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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M E

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the  ANEEBEAEAMIKEE 2 %46 - BERBEY

last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated — BFE&Z a0 T » Jh¥gsE B 2 T3 2 K EXELL BB
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out below: BER  TWOELEEEY E]FHHME

For the year ended 31 December
HE+ZA=+—HLEFE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—NFE ZETF —T-_—F T _F ZB=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T TET TFET FET FET

RESULTS E4
(Loss)/profit for the year REE(EB),/ 5 (125,762) 39,482 (501,014) (228,015) (101,013)
Attributable to: THIALE
Owners of the Company KARIEERE A (104,331) (25,198) (326,942) (196,061) (89,726)
Non-controlling interests IEIE AR iz (21,431) 64,680 (174,072) (81,954) (11,287)
(125,762) 39,482 (501,014) (228,015) (101,013)
As at 31 December
R+-—A=+—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—h& =—ZZ=TF —ZZT=-—F ZT--F ZBZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets JEMBNEE 840,035 805,870 593,571 353,441 264,594
Current assets MENEE 2,335,477 2,187,925 1,934,860 343,413 334,436
Current liabilities mENAE (1,865,829) (1,656,639) (1,676,638) (341,292) (361,126)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (204,407) (96,766) (61,189 (14,997) (10,383)
Net Assets BEFE 1,105,276 1,240,390 790,604 340,565 227,521
Attributable to: THIATEG
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZZ =N 976,740 1,049,978 764,589 528,776 418,027
Non-controlling interests JEPEAR RS 128,536 190,412 26,015 (188,211) (190,506)
Total Equity RS 4EEE 1,105,276 1,240,390 790,604 340,565 227,521
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHRE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”), | hereby
present the operational results of Tesson Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023 to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

During the year, the Group focuses on the manufacturing of lithium ion battery
products. Sales had been increased by HK$34,760,000 to HK$129,159,000
while gross profit narrowed down to approximately HK$2,192,000. With
the implementation of cost-control policy, loss for the year from continuing
operation dropped by HK$23,668,000 to HK$101,013,000.

Reviewing the development path of new energy market in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), significant fluctuation was seen, with both
opportunities and challenges year by year. In previous years, stimulated by the
subsidising policies at the time being and the increase in public awareness of
green energy application and importance, demand for new energy vehicles
in the PRC, as well as other electrical products increased significantly,
multiple small and medium size battery manufacturers then entered into the
market, creating a fiercely competitive industrial environment. Strong battery
products demand led to material shortage and pushed up material price, also
production cost.

In 20283, the new energy market experienced a rapid change, new challenges
had emerged one after another. Economic performance in the PRC was
recovering from previous downturn, overall demand growth for battery
products was lower than expected, but still reached a growth of more than
34%. Certain leading battery manufacturers entered into destocking cycle,
which had further eliminated numbers of small battery manufacturers from the
market. As a result, raw material was over-supplied in the year, leading to a
decline in raw material price. A price war on battery products was observed,
which had an accumulated drop of more than 50% at the end of 2023,
profitability was squeezed.

Notwithstanding the fact that the Group had also adjusted product price under
the strong market competition, with the collective efforts of all members of the
Group, sales of battery products had been increased by approximately 38% in
2023. We believed the considerable growth in sales represented recognition
from our clients, and a reflection to market confidence to our battery products.
Over the years, the Group endeavors to provide highly stable, safety and
efficient battery products covering different usage to clients. In the future, the
Group will continue to put effort on providing desirable battery products to
clients, innovation of new energy storage products, and improving production
technologies on battery products, in order to further modify and enhance our
product portfolio, and further strengthen the Group’s market position.
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ER®E

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to the
Board for their support, and for contributions made by the management
team and staff in the past year. Finally, |, hereby on behalf of the Board, the
management and all employees of the Group, would like to express our
heartfelt thanks for the long-time support and trust from the Shareholders,
business partners and customers.

Tin Kong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE 2 FWmED AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

Lithium lon Motive Battery Business

In 2023, new energy storage technologies such as hydrogen fuel cells, sodium
jon battery, compressed air energy storage, flow battery energy storage, and
flywheel energy storage constantly emerged and developed, while lithium
ion battery energy storage still played a key role in new energy storage
technologies. Though experienced a lower yearly market growth, investments
in new energy industry still increased by more than 34% in 2023 compared to
last year in the PRC. Total lithium ion battery production exceeded 940GWh,
representing a year-on-year increase of 25%, value of the industry’s total
output exceeded RMB1 .4 trillion, total lithium ion battery exports increased by
more than 33% and reached RMB457 .4 billion.

The majority of the Group’s customer was manufacturers of household
appliance, electric two-wheeled vehicles and other small electric tools. During
the year, solid performance was seen in the household appliance market, a
growth of 7% in sales revenue was recorded comparing to last year. Certain
non-traditional household products such as floor scrubbers even had a 45%
increase in terms of sales quantity. Regarding new energy vehicles, a total of
6.69 million pure electric vehicles were sold in 2023 in the PRC, representing a
year-on-year increase of 24.6%. Currently, the number of electric two-wheeled
vehicles reached 350 million, sales volume exceeded 50 million in the two
consecutive years from 2022.

Notwithstanding the increase in production scale and sales volume, product
prices of the lithium ion battery dropped significantly by more than 50%
during the year. The price decline was mainly driven by the increase in
production capacity across the supply and industrial chains, coupled with
growth in market demand which was weaker than expected. In the short run,
overcapacity of the industry is likely to exert a downward pressure on the
prices of the lithium ion battery products.

The overall decline in market price also caused downward adjustment on
price of the Group’s lithium ion battery products. Though revenue for the
year increased to HK$129,159,000, gross profit had narrowed down to
HK$2,192,000.

Internet Sales Business
The Group’s Internet Sales Business was in limited operation in the year,

the management will remeasure its continuance and may discontinue this
business in the near future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE 2 FWmED AT

PROSPECT

In the future, the Group will better deploy its resources to further develop its
current production base in Weinan in order to enlarge production capacity to
meet the expected increase in sales orders. The Group will focus on research
and development on production of 18650 lithium ion battery products, at the
meantime explore the feasibility of production on other battery products, which
may include lithium iron phosphate battery, prismatic lithium ion battery, or
other kinds of battery products in order to further diversify its product portfolio
and expand its customer base, eventually strengthen its position in the battery
market.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and gross profit ratio

During the year, the Group’s revenue was derived from its Lithium lon
Motive Battery Business, which had been increased from HK$93,791,000 to
HK$129,159,000 mainly due to the increase in sales to current customers.
Gross profit dropped from HK$8,016,000 to HK$2,192,000 as a result of
adjustments to product price.

Other income and loss, net

Other income and loss, net for the year increased to approximately
HK$23,857,000 (2022: HK$6,547,000), mainly represented gain on waiver
of account payables of HK$17,401,000 and gain on disposal of right-of-use
assets of HK$8,114,000.

Distribution and selling expenses

During the year, the Group incurred distribution and selling expenses at
approximately HK$4,760,000 (2022: HK$5,934,000) which mainly consisted
of staff costs and entertainment expenses.

Administrative expenses

As the Group’s Interest Sales Business was inactive in the year, together with
other cost-control policy implemented, administrative expenses dropped from
HK$126,539,000 to HK$117,525,000, which mainly represented depreciation
of HK$47,148,000 (2022: HK$39,945,000) and staff cost of HK$22,252,000
(2022: HK$31,470,000).

Finance costs
Finance costs for the year decreased to approximately HK$4,777,000 (2022:

HK$6,771,000) due to partial settlement of other borrowings during the year
and late 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE 2 FWmED AT

Basic and diluted loss per share

Basic and diluted loss per share in the year ended 31 December 2023 were
both HK6.05 cents (2022: HK15.54 cents).

In anticipation of the funds required for the development of the Lithium lon
Motive Battery Business, the Board does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group had bank and cash balances of approximately HK$2,598,000 (31
December 2022: HK$6,252,000). The gearing ratio of the Group (which was
expressed as a percentage of total borrowings over total equity) was about
21.15% as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: 15.50%).

EMPLOYMENT

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 294 employees (2022:
341), most of whom were working in the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC.
During the year, the total employees’ costs including Directors’ emoluments
were approximately HK$31,129,000 (2022: HK$37,613,000).

The Group has developed its human resources policies and procedures based
on performance and merit. Employees are rewarded on a performance basis
within the general framework of its salary and bonus system. Discretionary
bonus is linked to the performance of the Group as well as individual
performance. Benefits include staff accommodation, medical schemes, share
option scheme, Mandatory Provident Fund for employees in Hong Kong
and state-sponsored retirement plans for employees in the PRC. The Group
has also developed training programs for its management and employees to
promote career advancement of the staffs.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Since sales and purchase for the Lithium lon Motive Battery Business are
denominated in RMB, the management considers that the Group’s exposure
to exchange risks is minimal. However, the Company faces foreign exchange
risks when it conducts fund raising activities in Hong Kong (in HK$) and remits
funds to its subsidiaries in the PRC (in RMB). The Board will continue to
monitor foreign exchange exposure in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE 2 FWmED AT

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2022: nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of pledged assets as at 31 December 2023 are set out in Notes 18
and 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEBFN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tin Kong

Mr. Tin Kong (“Mr. Tin”), aged 63, is a Hong Kong resident. Mr. Tin has been
executive Director of the Company and the chairman of the Board since 27
August 2015 and has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the
Company on 1 August 2019. He has been an authorised representative of
the Company, the chairman of the nomination committee and internal control
committee of the Company, and a member of remuneration committee of the
Company since March 2016. Mr. Tin holds directorships in certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He was a director of Double Key International Limited, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, until 20 March 2024. He graduated
from the Department of Economics and Management in Beijing Academy of
Cultural Administration* (1t R XL & 2P E R 2T B E IR E R).

Ms. Cheng Hung Mui

Ms. Cheng Hung Mui (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 53, is a Hong Kong resident and
an individual investor. Ms. Cheng was appointed as an executive Director
of the Company on 27 June 2014. Ms. Cheng is the beneficial owner and
director of Double Key International Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company.

Mr. Chan Wei

Mr. Chan Wei (“Mr. Chan”), aged 45, has been the chief financial officer,
company secretary and authorised representative of the Company since 7
March 2016 and has been appointed as an executive Director of the Company
on 28 July 2021. He is also a supervisor of a subsidiary of the Group. Mr.
Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Chan obtained the degree of a Bachelor of Science in applied accounting
from the Oxford Brookes University. He has over 21 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and financial advisory. Before joining the Company, Mr.
Chan worked in a listed company as financial controller.

Ms. Liu Liu (also known as Liu Xiaoqing)

Ms. Liu Liu (“Ms. Liu”), aged 38, was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company on 28 July 2021. She is currently a legal representative and an
executive director of Oriental Galaxy (Beijing) Cultural Media Co., Ltd.* (375
oA (b R) LEEAPR A F]), which is a subsidiary of the Company. She
is also the vice-director (8322 &) of each of the Live Webcast & Short Video
Professional Committee (4848 B fEE1 R IEH 2 Z B @) and the Electronic
Commerce Professional Committee (EFHEEEZEZ E <€) of the China
Electronics Chamber of Commerce (FEIE F#€). Ms. Liu has more than
19 years of experience in film and television production and brand planning,
marketing and promotion. Since 2004, Ms. Liu has been participating in the
publisher and producer team of a number of film and television products,
including several award-winning TV series which have become the top TV
series in the annual audience ratings or click through rates in the first-tier
satellite TV or multi-media platforms. From 2014, Ms. Liu has tapped into the
China TV shopping industry and has built up her team in providing various
brand planning, marketing and promotion services in live stream e-commerce.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEBFN

Ms. Yu Xiaolei

Ms. Yu Xiaolei (“Ms. Yu”), aged 39, was awarded a master’s degree in
architecture (professional) in the University of Auckland, New Zealand, in
2011. Ms. Yu served as sustainable building appraiser at GWS — Green World
Solutions* (FFEEELE (b3 K RHE BB A &) from December 2010 to May
2016, mainly engaged in green building evaluation (including but not limited
to conceptual design, assessment standard for green building, and leading
energy and environmental design (or LEED) evaluation), as well as low carbon
planning. She later served as an administrative manager at Beijing Anjie Asset
Management Co., Ltd.* (L R EEE K H AR A F]) from April 2018 to
August 2020. Ms. Yu has over 5 years of experience in green building and
low-carbon planning.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Jinlin

Mr. Wang Jinlin (“Mr. Wang”), aged 59, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 24 March 2015. He is a member of
the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee
and the internal control committee of the Company. Mr. Wang graduated
from Zhejiang University and obtained a bachelor’s degree in 1984. He is
a senior engineer and used to serve as deputy general manager of Jiaxing
Silk Spinning Factory* (32 14545 8), deputy general manager and general
manager of Zhejiang Jinying Silk Spinning Co., Ltd.* (T & 48458 R A 7)),
and deputy general manager of Zhejiang Jinying Holding Limited, possessing
rich experience in corporate management and practice. He was a member of
CPPC of Jiaxing, a director of Chinese Silk Industry Association* (FF B %4 43
T Z1#&) and vice chairman of the silk spinning branch of the Chinese Silk
Industry Association.

Dr. Ng Ka Wing

Dr. Ng Ka Wing (“Dr. Ng”), aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 8 March 2016. He is the chairman
of the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the internal control committee of the Company.
Dr. Ng received a Doctor Honoris Causa of Business Administration in
Manufacturing and Services from International American University in April
2019. In the same year, he is elevated as the honorary life chairman of Hong
Kong Bus Suppliers Association. Dr. Ng has extensive experience in the
manufacturing of motor vehicles. He is now the managing director of a bus
manufacturer.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. See Tak Wah

Mr. See Tak Wah (“Mr. See”), aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 27 January 2017. He is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of the remuneration
committee, the nomination committee and the internal control committee of
the Company. Mr. See graduated from the Management School of Waikato
University in New Zealand with first class honours in Bachelor of Management
Studies. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Australia
and New Zealand, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. See has over 37 years of experience in financial and general management
as he previously worked as the regional business controller of Nokia Mobile
Phones Asia Pacific, the managing director of Nokia Mobile Phones Hong
Kong, the chief operating officer of First Mobile Group Holdings Limited, and
held key management positions in the North Asia offices of Philips and Siemens.
From 2010 to 2019, Mr. See served as an independent non-executive director
and chairman of audit committee of Chu Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas
Steel Pipe Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 01938). He was also appointed as
an independent non-executive director, chairman of the audit committee, a
member of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 01102) in 2020 to
2021.

Mr. See currently runs his own boutique management consultancy practice
focusing on business strategies formulation and transformation consultation. In
addition, he is currently an independent non-executive director and chairman
of the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of Lever Style Corporation (Stock Code: 01346).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chen Jun

Mr. Chen Jun (“Mr. Chen”), aged 56, has been employed as the general
manager of a subsidiary of the Group since March 2022, and is responsible
for management and operation of the Lithium lon Motive Battery Business. Mr.
Chen holds a master’s degree in Mathematics and System Engineering from
the National University of Defense Technology. He was admitted as a Certified
Quality Engineer and a Certified Quality Manager of the American Society of
Quality, also obtained the qualification of Certified Six Sigma Black Belt in
2008. He is also a Certified Management Accountant (CMA) by the Institute of
Management Accountants. Mr. Chen has over 36 years of working experience
in new energy company operation in the PRC and overseas.

Mr. Niu Wen Tao

Mr. Niu Wen Tao (“Mr. Niu”), aged 39, has been employed as the deputy
general manager of a subsidiary of the Group since April 2016 and currently
served as sales director since 2022, and is responsible for product design,
development and technical management of battery packs, and sales of
battery packs and cell products. Mr. Niu holds a bachelor degree in Northwest
University. He has over 16 years of working experience in design and
development of battery pack products.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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The Board is pleased to present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the Bermuda, and
its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room 401A, Empire Centre, 68
Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in Lithium lon Motive Battery Business during
the year.

The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements. Further discussion and analysis of these
activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of The Laws of Hong Kong), can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis set out on pages 7 to 10 of this Annual Report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are
set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARGES ON GROUP’S ASSETS

Details of the charges on the Group’s assets are set out in Notes 18 and 34 to
the consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

Details of the commitments of the Group are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s issued share capital is
HK$148,348,670 and the total number of its issued ordinary shares is
1,483,486,700 shares of HK$0.10 each.

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in Note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has completed a rights issue on 1 February 2024, which is
detailed in the section headed “Events after the Reporting Period” in this
report.
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out on page 52 of this Annual Report and Note 29 to the
consolidated financial statement. The Company had no distributable reserves
as at 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman)

Ms. Cheng Hung Mui

Mr. Chan Wei

Ms. Liu Liu

Ms. Yu Xiaolei (appointed on 1 October 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Ng Ka Wing

Mr. See Tak Wah

Mr. Wang Jinlin

By virtue of bye-law 84 of the bye-laws of the Company, Ms. Cheng Hung
Mui, Mr. Tin Kong and Mr. Wang Jinlin, shall retire by rotation and being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

By virtue of bye-law 83 of the Bye-laws, Ms. Yu Xiaolei shall hold office only
until the forthcoming AGM and being eligible, offer herself for re-election.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensations).
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS BEERBEY

Each of Ms. Cheng Hung Mui, Mr. Tin Kong, Ms. Liu Liu and Ms. Yu Xiaolei, —$1{TE S84+ « ML A - 24+ Ea
each an executive Director, entered into a service agreement with the BEEZ+EBHEAQRZIREHE > 2RlE =
Company for a term of 2 years commencing from 27 June 2014, 27 August Z—WNFA-++H - ZE—AFN\A=-++t
2015, 28 July 2021 and 1 October 2023, respectively. H - —F+A-+N\BE-_ZE-_=F+A

— B AHmE -
Mr. Wang Jinlin, an independent non-executive Director, has entered into a B 3ES{TE S T &ML A ERATE 7 REH
service agreement with the Company for a term of 2 years commencing from 3% B-Z—hE=A -+ AR SHRE -

24 March 2015.

Mr. Chan Wei, an executive Director, entered into service agreement with the — ¥ 1TE BRI EEA NGV REHE 8=
Company for a term of 3 years commencing from 28 July 2021, T —FEA-TN\HRBEBH=F -

Dr. Ng Ka Wing and Mr. See Tak Wah, both of whom are independent non- B JFE1TE ERRELEH L+ MipEEL LD IR

executive Directors, were appointed on 8 March 2016 and 27 January 2017, —Z—XE=AN\BEK-_Z—+F—HA=-++H
respectively, without service agreement and specific term. BEZE  BEWETLRBHE - EIEEM
Hy o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, according to the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) and, so far as is known to the Directors,
the persons or entities who had an interest or a short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company (the “Shares”) which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO or who were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company, or of any other company
which is a member of the Group, or in any options in respect of such share
capital are as follows:

FTERRREMATRARG RAEBR
eEERAR

g

NZEZ=F+_A=+—8  BEXQAK
FBERAE GO (BAEMESE)([BHERE
ERfl])E336GMmETFHECSMARKES
A RARRRMDSAERER G ([REDRHEBE
RIBEE S R EAEIEHEXVEREE2 & 5535 BRG]
RREEBEcERSOAR  EZIEERBTE
EER T AERAR S AEB (TR EMAE R
AR ARSI EEMN (W ERRAmES S
2 FE MR 2 AT R i 2 5% 3 A R A+
NERBAT :

El

Long positions Ha
Number of Percentage of the
issued ordinary total issued
Name of substantial Shares held/ share capital
Shareholder Note Capacity underlying Shares of the Company
FFERITEER EAEARERT
TERRHSE BB Wi 5% RO A RABEz2ADL
Cheng Hung Mui 7 Interest of controlled corporation 775,894,533 52.30%
4T Rt AR s
Double Key International Limited 1 Beneficial owner 775,894,533 52.30%
BEEEBR AR BB A
Cui Qiang Beneficial owner 105,810,750 7.13%
R ERERA
Leung Ka Chun Beneficial owner 101,824,000 6.86%
RREE BEmEAA
Note Htat
1 The entire issued share capital of Double Key International Limited is wholly 1 EEBRAR AR 2B BITRARNTES

owned by Ms. Cheng Hung Mui, an executive Director. Therefore, Ms. Cheng
Hung Mui is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Double Key
International Limited pursuant to the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company has not
been notified by any persons (other than the Directors and chief executive
of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and
chief executive’s interests and short position in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures” below), who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosable to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executive were
deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
therein, or were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 (the “Model Code”) to the Rules
of Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the issued Shares

B EXFIREEIN  RZE_=F+_A=+—
A #BETAAL(TEERRARESTNEET
BAB  BEZESHIRN T EEREET
BABREG - HERGORESFZEENLAER ]
—f)HEARAT - HRARQE R SRAEERD
FHEARIEES R E G EXVEE2 R EINE
EBRARRAREBEZERIAE  IIRIBEFES
N EAE 15HI B 33618 E AR RIZANETFZER
AR 2 R SOKE ©

EEREBRITRASRKRAD - HEKR
RESFZERERAR

RZB_=ZF+_A=+—8B ARAEFK
TETBRABRARASEEMEEEE(E&E
RES LG GOIEXVER) 2 ikt - 8RR G5
B A EAREE S IS GG FEXVERET
R8N BEAMEARARANBALHARIABAERA
m (B3R AT ) 2 e RoRk R (BIERIERE 7 k4
ERPIEBGNEERTZTRA BRI RAE
ERBRAZEBIAR)  IRBEESFMMEK
I3 35215 A BN R G Pl 2 B FC i 2 #E
Nogm » RERBBLZAAES EMARRN( LR
B D BISXC3MTEl LB ITAERETERR S
MRZEST RI([REF R D AR E AR A KB P
ZHERSORBIT

(i) REBITROZHEE

Percentage of

Number of the total issued
Capacity or issued ordinary share capital
Name of Director Note nature of interests Shares held of the Company
e 1T HAEDTE BT
EEHA Wi SHREERMEE ZRRHE RABEADLL
Cheng Hung Mui 1 Interest of controlled corporation 775,894,533 52.30%
EATH RIEHEE 2
Note BiaE
1 The entire issued share capital of Double Key International Limited is wholly 1 BERBRERARZZIEEITRAEH

owned by Ms. Cheng Hung Mui, an executive Director. Therefore, Ms.
Cheng Hung Mui is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Double
Key International Limited pursuant to the SFO.
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(ii) Long positions in the shares of the associated corporations

(i) HREBEEIZERAZFE

Percentage
of interest in

Name of Number of the associated

Name of Director Nature of interests associated corporation Shares held corporation

IHRESEE R

EEgE EmtE HEEE S RO E ZEDH

Cheng Hung Mui Corporate interest Double Key International Limited 100 100%
ATy EEER EEBERERAT

Apart from the foregoing, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) are otherwise required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share Option Scheme

To enable the Company to grant share options to eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contributions to the success of the Group,
in the annual general meeting of the Company held on 5 July 2022, a new
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) valid for 10 years was adopted. The
terms of the New Share Option Scheme are in line with the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. Under the New Share Option Scheme, the
Board may grant options to employees (full-time or part-time) and directors
(excluding independent non-executive directors) (“Eligible Participants”).
The basis of eligibility of each Eligible Participants shall be determined by the
Board taking into account such factors as the Board may at its discretion
consider appropriate. The Directors will assess the eligibility of the Eligible
Participants based on their general working performance, time commitment,
working experience, responsibilities and employment conditions according to
the prevailing market practice and industry standard, or where appropriate,
contribution or potential contribution to the revenue, profits or business
development of the Group.
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In each grant of options, the Board may at its discretion determine the specific
exercise period and exercise price. The exercise price shall not be less
than the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of granting the offer, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the date of granting the offer; and (i) the nominal value
of a Share on the date of granting the offer.

More details on the Scheme are contained in the circular of the Company
dated 31 May 2022, its terms are also published on 9 June 2022 on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of Shares available for issue
under the Scheme was 123,649,370 Shares which represented 10% of the
total number of ordinary Shares in issue at the date of passing the relevant
resolution. The number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted
to any individual is not permitted to exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company for the time being.

As at the date of this report, no share option has been granted by the
Company under the Scheme.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of Directors’
information are set out below.

On 20 March 2024, Mr. Tin Kong ceased to be the director of Double Key
International Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company.

On 1 October 2023, Ms. Yu Xiaolei was appointed as executive Directors
for an initial term of 2 years and would continue thereafter unless and until a
notice of termination is served by either party. She is also entitled to receive
a director’s fee of HK$180,000 per annum and salary of HK$1,020,000 per
annum, together with any other emolument.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, there were no changes of
Directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had any interests in competing business
of the Company which was required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this Directors’ report, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable any
Directors (including their spouses or children under 18 years of age) to have
any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'’S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

As at the end of the year ended 31 December 2023 or at any time during
the year, (a) there was no contract of significance between the Company or
any of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries; and (b) there was no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

As at the end of the year ended 31 December 2023 or at any time during
the year, there was no contract of significance in relation to the Company’s
business, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
subsisted, and in which a Director had, whether directly or indirectly, a material
interest.

22 Tesson Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

EERBERT 2ES

R BEEENALT L BFEBPRARE
ETTRAIEE OB T R (F A -

ESWBRONERR S 2EF

BRAEESMEEMWEESI  ARRHEEM
B R R ER FARER— T 2EI LIRS
EMNEF(BREEZRBII8HENA T TR)EE
EAEMNARBAR R B SEMEEEEE(EE
RBHLBERD) 2B HFREZEBARNRA L
EREMEABRZ B REFMESH R %
BE e

ERRRNEN 2 #Es

BE_Z_=F+_A=+—HIEFERKNF
MR - ()8R B Sk E AP B Bl A
ERBREEFAMNERRRITERAL + Kb)
BUEZR AT AR EHER IR BB A F[R
ARBSEE B R RREIREZEREL

EENEN 2R

HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HILFERINEF
WIEMEE - AR R]REEFAMERRREER
—HT2EFIVEERETEEREEREEEAR
SmBEARREBAEBIERELN -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHREE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, Dr. Ng Ka Wing, Mr. See Tak Wah and Mr. Wang
Jinlin served as the independent non-executive directors of the Company.

Pursuant to the code provisions in paragraph B.2.3 of Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rules, any further appointment of independent non-executive directors
serving more than 9 years should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders. Mr. Wang has been serving the Board for more
than 9 years. To comply with Code Provision B.2.3, Mr. Wang will retire
voluntarily and will offer himself for re-election as independent non-executive
director at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Based on Mr. Wang Jinlin’s in-depth knowledge and extensive experience
in corporate management, he has provided sound advice and expresses
independent views on the Company’s matters, making invaluable
contributions to the Company. Taking into account the foregoing factors and
the independent scope of work of Mr. Wang Jinlin in the past years, the Board
believes that the continued tenure of Mr. Wang Jinlin will bring considerable
stability to the Board and the Board has benefited greatly from the presence
of Mr. Wang Jinlin who has comprehensive understandings to the Group’s
business through his years of service and thus able to bring valuable insight
into the Group.

Based on the board diversity policy of the Company, the Board is of the view
that Mr. Wang Jinlin can contribute to the diversity of the Board, in particular,
his educational background and vast experience in his expertise. The Board is
of the opinion that Mr. Wang Jinlin remains independent notwithstanding the
length of his service and will continue to bring valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.

Together with the annual confirmation of his independence received by the
Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Board considers
that Mr. Wang’s length of tenure does not impact his independence, and Mr.
Wang remains independent to the Group, and free of any relationship which
could materially interfere with the exercise of his independent judgment, the
re-election of Mr.Wang Jinlin as independent non-executive Director is at the
best interests of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.

The Company has also received the annual confirmation of independence from
Dr. Ng Ka Wing and Mr. See Tak Wah pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, sales to the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for 44.4% of the Group’s total revenue for the year. In
particular, sales to the largest customer of the Group accounted for 16.3% of
the Group’s total revenue for the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 70.1% of the Group’s purchases
were attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers. In particular, purchases
from the largest supplier of the Group accounted for 33.1% of the Group’s
total purchase for the year.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors nor any of their
associates nor any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers or five largest
suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2023.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration Committee
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or
the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements. These related party transactions (i) did not constitute
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions or, (i) constituted
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions but were exempted
from all disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations and business would
be affected by numerous risks and uncertainties including market risk,
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme is shown in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

Employees

The Group considers employees as the key to success and continues to
implement people-oriented policy in human resources management, including
the offer of appropriate training programs, performance linked discretionary
bonus, and implement a sound and complete performance appraisal system
to promote career advancement and opportunity of the staff.

Customers and Suppliers

The Group maintained sound relationships with its customers and suppliers,
and also committed to provide excellent products with outstanding services to
our customers in order to build up and maintain sustainable relationships.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, as far as the Company is aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

In accordance with bye-law 164 of the bye-laws of the Company, the
Directors and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them, their or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may
incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices
or trusts, provided that any such persons has not committed any fraud or
dishonesty.

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors was in force
as of the date of this report and during the financial year ended 31 December
2023. The Company has maintained directors and officers liability insurance
for the directors of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 1 February 2024, the Company completed the rights issue to the qualifying
Shareholders on the basis of three (3) rights share for every four (4) existing
shares held on the record date at the subscription price of HK$0.1 per rights
share on a non-underwritten basis, as a result, a total of 593,365,583 rights
shares were allotted and issued. As at the date of this report, 2,076,852,283
ordinary shares were issued by the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”) SUMMARY

The Group is committed to conducting our business in an environmentally
sound manner and has adopted the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide as required by the Listing Rules. The Board will continue
to monitor such policies to ensure the Company remains compliant with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company
in relation to the environment, employment, labor and operation. In addition to
carrying out the corporate-wide programs the Company has initiated, all of our
employees are required to be familiar with environmental laws and regulations
relevant to their employment responsibilities and to comply with them. Details
of the above information are set out in our ESG report.
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DIVIDENDS RE

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year EZef@ZiNEBEz S -_—F+-_A=+—
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil). EiiEZEﬂHﬁE(_;::¢ D) o
SUBSIDIARIES Bt/ A ]

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are AARIR_E_=F+_A=+—HZFEWE
set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. RGBSR A IS ER B MI7E36 -
AUDITOR B ELEm

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 AEEHEZ-—"ZT-—=F+-_F=+—HIFE>
December 2023 was audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited. ZHONGHUI 448 B 8BEE DB P EL ESTMERAEER
ANDA CPA Limited will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and Tt « FEZES M SEMER A TERE
a resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company will be  fERFEEFAE HET  WERRFEAFAES L

proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting. BIREABENZTREE AR R RIZEAIA RE
%= .

By order of the Board REFES®

Tesson Holdings Limited REEZEBRERAT

Tin Kong FE

Chairman FH

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024 /A ZEZNFE=A=+N\H
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles
(the “Principles”) and code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Company and the Directors strive to follow the internal control manuals
and put in place sufficient resources to comply with the CG Code. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, save for the deviations disclosed below, the
Company had complied with all the applicable provisions set out in the CG
Code:

Pursuant to the Code Provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent non-
executive Directors and non-executive Directors should attend general
meetings of the Company. However, two independent non-executive Directors
were absent from the annual general meeting of the Company held on 23 June
2023 due to other business commitments. To ensure compliance with the CG
Code in the future, the Company has arranged and will continue to arrange to
furnish all Directors with appropriate information on all general meetings of the
Company and take all reasonable measures to schedule meetings in such a
way that all Directors can attend the general meetings.

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Tin Kong has been serving as the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company (the “CEO”) since 1 August 2019. Such
practice deviates from Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board
considers that consolidation of these roles by Mr. Tin Kong provides strong
and consistent leadership to the Company which facilitates effective planning
and efficient management of the Company. The Board will keep reviewing this
arrangement from time to time and should candidate with suitable knowledge,
skill and experience be identified, the Company will make an appointment to fill
the post as appropriate.

The Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance
practices and standards of the Company to ensure the business activities and
decision making processes of the Company are regulated in a proper and
prudent manner.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules for securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company reported that the
Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Model
Code also applies to other specified senior management of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises:
Executive Directors: Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman)
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui
Mr. Chan Wei
Ms. Liu Liu
Ms. Yu Xiaolei
(appointed on 1 October 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors: Dr. Ng Ka Wing
Mr. See Tak Wah

Mr. Wang Jinlin

The Board comprises of five executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. One of the independent non-executive Directors
possesses appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial
management expertise. Biographical details of the directors are set out in
the section of “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 11 to 14 of this Annual Report.

The relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed under
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 11 to
14. Save as disclosed under “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management”, the Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. The formation of the Board has
met Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules for the Board to have at least one-third in
number of its members comprising independent non-executive Directors.

The main focus of the Board is on the formulation of overall strategies and
policies of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial performance
and the internal controls of the Group’s business operations. Execution of
operational matters and the powers thereof are delegated to the management
by way of clear direction and remit from the Board.
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The independent non-executive Directors are from professional background
with a broad range of expertise and experience in the fields of accounting,
finance, legal and business. Their skills and expertise ensure strong
independent views and judgment in the Board. They also serve important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Board considers that each independent non-
executive Director is independent in character and judgment and that they alll
meet the independence criteria as set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All Directors are regularly updated on governance and regulatory matters.
There is an established procedure for Directors to obtain independent
professional advice at the expense of the Company in the furtherance of their
duties. The Company has also arranged appropriate director and officer liability
insurance cover in respect of any potential legal actions that might be taken
against its directors.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development Programme
The Directors have undergone satisfactory training throughout the year and

provided the training record to the Company. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the training records of the Directors are set out below:

BUFNTESFHERBEXRES  REF M
% ARMEETEAEERREREEL!
WEZRELERANBAAESSRHEARE YL
M2 BARAE - BUFRATEF A RER
AIRERTERCREARBIAMEF &
FERREBEYIFNTESHAB IR LA
7 > WAZEATE EMARREIAMGME 2
SLAGRF ©

o
R

EREFOTHESEREAREESEZEM
Bl - ERARBEERF  SRBUFXESR
B EITERE - BRERBARRANE - &
RAEHBEFT 2 BEERTY  THEEZE
ENITBRABREERRE

EEIIRERBRTE

FR - BEFEETTARBZEIN - LAKAQF]
RHUEFIEE REBEE—T_=F+_A=+—
BIEFE  EFZ7EJEEHIIMT

Corporate Governance/update
on laws, rules and regulations
EER R RARKRHZEH
Attend Seminars,

Read Briefings and
Materials Conferences
HEMRE
Directors B2E BB R BHREREER
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Tin Kong M4 v v
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui AT 22+ v v
Mr. Chan Wei BRE A v v
Ms. Liu Liu 2L+ v v
Ms. Yu Xiaolei AR E L v v
(appointed on 1 October 2023) (R=ZE==F+A—HEZT)
Independent Non-executive Directors HUHNITES
Dr. Ng Ka Wing RREET v v
Mr. See Tak Wah MRS v v
Mr. Wang Jinlin FeMEE v v
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Directors’ Attendance at the Board Meetings and General EEHFEESSERERREAZHER
Meetings

The individual attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings &EEWNEHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—RHILEE
(not including other ad hoc meetings of the Board held from time to time), HEEEE €3 (T EIEH A TEERITHTE S
certain committee meetings and general meetings during the year ended 31 EEe o) ETZ8eeRkBREASHE
December 2023 is set out below: RECEREFIINT ¢

Attendance/Number of Meetings

i/ BTERAY
Internal
Audit  Nomination Remuneration Control
Committee ~ Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Board General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting Meetings Meetings
ENZEE REZEE® FMESE APERZS
Directors Ex - = e 2gE ETegE N
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Tin Kong H#EEE N/ATER 212 212 11 6/6 212
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui AR N/ATE N/AT @R NATER N/ATER 0/6 02
Mr. Chan Wei BERE N/ATER N/ATER N/ATNEF N/ATER 6/6 2/2
Ms. Liu Liu 2+ NATEF NATEH NATER NATER 2/6 0/2
Ms. Yu Xiaolei BEENL N/ATNEF N/ATER N/ATNEF N/ATER N/ATER N/ATNEF
(appointed on 1 October 2023) (RZZ-=%+5—H
BZE)
Independent Non-executive Directors B 51775 %
Dr. Ng Ka Wing RREBL 2/2 112 1/2 1/1 5/6 1/2
Mr. See Tak Wah HEELE 212 212 212 11 6/6 2/2
Mr. Wang Jinlin oMk 212 212 212 11 6/6 0/2
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential
legal actions against its Directors and officers.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
CEO should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

The roles of Chairman are to provide leadership to the Board and responsible
for the effective functioning and ensuring that directors receive adequate,
reliable and complete information in timely manner. The Chairman assumes
the primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established.

The CEOQ is responsible for administering and managing the Group’s business
and internal controls, including the implementation of major strategies and
initiatives decreed and delegated by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Tin Kong has been serving as
the chairman and the CEO of the Company. In view of current development of
the Group, the Board believes that it is in the best interest of the Group to have
Mr. Tin Kong taking up both roles for effective execution of business strategies
and management of business operations. The Board will keep reviewing this
arrangement from time to time and should candidate with suitable knowledge,
skill and experience be identified, the Company will make an appointment to fill
the post of CEO as appropriate.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board has established four
committees, namely, the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the internal control
committee (the “Internal Control Committee”), for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of
the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon request.

Each Board committee consists of a majority of independent non-executive
Directors (“INED”). The list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee as at the date of this Annual Report is set out below:
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Audit Committee

Mr. See Tak Wah (Chairman) (INED)
Dr. Ng Ka Wing (INED)
Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Internal Control Committee

Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman) (executive Director)
Dr. Ng Ka Wing (INED)

Mr. See Tak Wah (INED)

Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Tin Kong (Chairman) (executive Director)
Dr. Ng Ka Wing (INED)

Mr. See Tak Wah (INED)

Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

Remuneration Committee

Dr. Ng Ka Wing (Chairman) (INED)
Mr. Tin Kong (executive Director)
Mr. See Tak Wah (INED)

Mr. Wang Jinlin (INED)

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

Pursuant to Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules, every listed issuer is required
to have at least three INEDs, at least one of whom must have appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Besides, according to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, every listed
issuer must establish an audit committee comprising non-executive directors
only. The audit committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at
least one of whom is an independent non-executive director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2). Throughout the year, the Board at all
times fully complied with Rules 3.21 and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The majority of the audit committee members must be independent non-
executive directors of the listed issuer. The audit committee must be chaired
by an independent non-executive director. Written terms of reference, which
describe the authority and duties of the Audit Committee, have been adopted
and posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and
are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.

As at the reporting date, the Audit Committee comprised three members, all
the independent non-executive Directors namely, Mr. See Tak Wah, Dr. Ng Ka
Wing and Mr. Wang Jinlin as members. The chairman of Audit Committee is
Mr. See Tak Wah who possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. None of the members
of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditor. The Audit Committee has separate and independent access to the
advice and services of the senior management of the Company, and is able
to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense upon
reasonable request.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@ To review the consolidated financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s
staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or external auditors before submission to the Board.

(b)  To review the relationship with the external auditors with reference to the
work performed by them, their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of external auditors.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, intemnal control system and risk management system
and associated procedures.

During the year, the Audit Committee has, inter alia, reviewed the accounting
standards and practices adopted by the Group and discussed with the
management about the internal control and financial reporting matters,
including reviewing the annual financial information for the year ended 31
December 2022 and the interim financial information for the six months ended
30 June 2023.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, who is of
opinion that such statements comply with applicable accounting standards
and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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INTERNAL CONTROL COMMITTEE

The Internal Control Committee comprises four members, namely, Mr. Tin
Kong who is the Chairman and executive Director, and Dr. Ng Ka Wing,
Mr. See Tak Wah and Mr. Wang Jinlin who are independent non-executive
Directors. The Internal Control Committee is chaired by Mr. Tin Kong. The
Internal Control Committee was established to enhance risk management and
internal control systems in a timely manner. The Internal Control Committee
is responsible for performing independent review of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems. The Internal
Control Committee examines key issues in relation to the accounting practices
and all material controls; evaluate and determine the nature and extent of the
risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives; and
provides the effectiveness of its implementation and recommendations for
improvement to the Audit Committee and the Board.

During the year, the Company organises personnel and seeks assistance from
external professional advisory institutions to review the risk management and
internal control systems which are subject to the review by the Company’s
management team and the Internal Control Committee, also the approval by
the Audit Committee and the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules, issuers should establish a
nomination committee which is chaired by the chairman of the board or an
independent non-executive director and comprises a majority of independent
non-executive directors.

The Company has set up a Nomination Committee with its written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rules to ensure fair and transparent procedures for appointment, re-
election and removal of Directors to the Board. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors and one
executive Director, and was chaired by an executive Director who is the
Chairman of the Board.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board on a regular basis and make recommendations to
the Board regarding any proposed changes; identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors; making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee has
reviewed the existing structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board
to ensure it has a balance of expertise, skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements the Group’s business; reviewed
and assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
assessed the board diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) as well as discussing matters regarding the appointment, retirement
and re-election of Directors.

The Nomination Committee formulated Board Diversity Policy. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. In designing the Board’s composition, the
Nomination Committee will consider a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness and discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.

The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and reports to the Board on the achievement of the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity under the Board Diversity Policy.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Group has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which is summarised as
follows:

(@)  Election of members of the Board shall be based on a series of
diversified bases, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service; and

(b)  The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
diversity policy in order to ensure that the policy produces desirable
results.

The composition of the Board of the Company has met the gender diversity
requirement at approximately 38%, representing 3 females out of 8 Directors.
Gender diversity at workforce levels (including or senior management) is
disclosed in the ESG Report of the Company.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior Management

The remuneration payable to the employees includes salaries and allowances.
The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated based on the performance
of individual employees and are reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group’s
profitability, the Group may also provide a discretionary bonus to employees
as an incentive for their contribution to the Group. The primary goal of
the remuneration policy with regard to the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors is to enable the Group to retain and motivate the executive
Directors by linking their compensation with performance as measured against
corporate objectives achieved. Each of the executive Directors is entitled to
the remuneration packages including basic salaries and discretionary bonuses.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all
Directors’ and senior management remuneration, make recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors and determine, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management.

The Company believes that by offering the eligible persons a shareholding
stake in the Company, the interests of the eligible persons and the Company
will align and thereby provide the eligible persons with additional incentives to
improve the Company’s performance.

According to the Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, an issuer must establish a
remuneration committee chaired by an independent non-executive director
and comprising a majority of independent non-executive directors, and
according to the Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
must approve and provide written terms of reference for the remuneration
committee which clearly establish its authority and duties.

The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rules to ensure that there are formal and transparent procedures for
setting policies on the remuneration of Directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors and one executive Director, and was chaired by an
independent non-executive Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed and discussed the remuneration and structure of the Directors and
senior management of the Company.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band for the year ended 31 December
2023 is set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Wei, the company secretary of the Company, is also an executive
director of the Company. He ensures information flow within the Board and
that the Board policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
responsible for advising the Board on the corporate governance matters and
professional development of the Directors.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the company
secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for the systems of internal control and
risk management of the Company and for reviewing their effectiveness on a
regular basis, covering financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The Board is committed to design and implement effective and sound
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests
of Shareholders and the Group’s assets. The systems are implemented
to manage and minimize, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure in
operation systems, and to provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Board has delegated to executive management the
implementation of the systems of risk management and internal controls and
reviewing of all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management function within an established framework. Our risk management
and internal control systems are reviewed and renewed at least on an annual
basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Apec Risk Management Limited, an
external professional advisory institution, has been appointed to undertake
the internal audit function and assist the Internal Control Committee to
review the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. For
risk assessment, the management and functional responsible persons are
required to evaluate the likelihood and impact of each identified risk item in
a risk register. Once significant risks are identified, mitigating measures are
required to put in place immediately in order to manage such risks. For internal
control review, once areas of improvement have been identified, appropriate
measures and follow-up actions are required to be put in place in order to
enhance the internal control system. The Internal Control Committee reviews
the findings and opinion of the management on the effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems, and reports to the
Audit Committee and the Board on such reviews. In respect of the year ended
31 December 2023, the Board considered the risk management and internal
control systems effective and adequate. No significant areas of concern which
might affect Shareholders were identified.
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The Company has put in place the policies and procedures for the handling
and dissemination of inside information. The Company regularly reminds the
Directors and employees for the due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information and also keeps them for the latest regulatory updates.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the
information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary
degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the information to the
public.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, price sensitive announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The auditor’s responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 43 to 47 to this
Annual Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration of the Group’s
auditor for statutory audit services was approximately HK$900,000. There
is also a non-audit service for the Rights Issue completed on 1 February
2024, which the remuneration of the Group’s auditor was approximately
HK$180,000.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), registered Shareholders holding not less than
one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company (“SGM Requisitionists”) can
deposit a written request to convene a SGM at the registered office of the
Company (“Registered Office”), which is presently situated at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The SGM Requisitionists
must state in their request(s) the purposes of the SGM and such request(s)
must be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the SGM
Requisitionists.

The Share Registrars will verify the SGM Requisitionists’ particulars in the SGM
Requisitionists’ request. Promptly after confirmation from the Share Registrars
that the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in order, the Company Secretary will
arrange with the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all
the registered Shareholders in accordance with all the relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements. On the contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request
is verified not in order, the SGM Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome
and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a SGM if within
twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’ request, the
Board does not proceed duly to convene a SGM provided that any SGM so
convened is held within three (3) months from the date of the original SGM
Requisitionists’ request. A SGM so convened by the SGM Requisitionists
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of the registered
Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered Shareholders, can
request the Company in writing to (a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly
be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to
Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting any statement
of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The
requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of several documents
in like form, each signed by one or more of the Requisitionists; and it must be
deposited at the Registered Office with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s relevant expenses, not less than six (6) weeks before the
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than
one (1) week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided
that if an annual general meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less after
the requisition has been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within
the time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing through the Company Secretary whose contact details are as
follows:

The Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Wei

Room 401A, Empire Centre,

68 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3520 3181

Email: info@tessonholdings.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings
of the Company.
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Constitutional Documents

On 23 June 20283, a special resolution was passed at the Company’s annual
general meeting to make certain amendments to the Company’s bye-laws to (i)
bring its bye-laws to be in line with the relevant requirements of the applicable
laws of Bermuda and the Listing Rules; (ii) enable the Company to convene
and hold electronic or hybrid general meetings of the Shareholders and provide
flexibility to the Company in relation to the conduct of general meetings; and
(i) make other miscellaneous and housekeeping changes to update or clarify
the provisions of the existing bye-laws, including consequential amendments
in line with the above amendments to the existing bye-laws, where it is
considered desirable or to better align the wordings with the Listing Rules and
the applicable laws of Bermuda.

The updated bye-laws of the Company have been adopted and posted on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to enhancing communications and relationships
with its investors. Designated senior management maintains an open
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the
Company’s developments.

The Company also maintains a website at www.tessonholdings.com, where
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations, financial
information and news can always be found.

CODE OF CONDUCT

The Company is committed to high standard of business ethics and integrity. A
code of conduct is enforced on all employees of the Group. The employees at
all levels are expected to act in an honest, diligent and responsible manner. No
personal gifts or other forms of advantages from any person or organisation
doing business with the Group can be accepted by any employee. Business
partners and customers are reminded from time to time that its policy forbids
any employee or agent of the Group from accepting any gift from them.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B3R

T o

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TESSON HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tesson Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 48 to 124, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements which
mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$101,013,000
from continuing operation for the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at 31
December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities of HK$26,690,000. The
cash and bank balance is amounting to HK$2,598,000 as at 31 December
2028. These conditions indicate a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS BREERSBIE

REESZEXZHE  AREZFER/BEER
APRZEAMBRETRA/ERZEH - BF
HEEZERBGEVMHRE R ERER R EE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion S EE » MAEH NS EHEHEBFERER - B
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In BN IEELENE AN E TR EZ =18
addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going ~ #p » H I Nl ETEE T AEARS P EEN
Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the  gigzE1H18 o

key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

() Property, plant and equipment (i) Y% BERRE

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements. B2 AE VSR B8 -

EEBEEYHYE  BEMRKEHETRER
A BENAHEECEREHEE - R
AHER-_ZE-_=F+_A=+—HPY=E "

The Group tested the amount of property, plant and equipment for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit because the
balance of property, plant and equipment of HK$203,463,000 as at 31

December 2023 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions;

Assessing the Group’s review procedure to support the accuracy
of carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment;

Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by client;

Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in the
consolidated financial statements;

Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with the
external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation process,
methodologies used and market evidence to support significant

judgments and assumptions applied in the valuation model;

Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation model
to supporting evidence; and

Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model.

We consider that the Group’s impairment review for property, plant and
equipment is supported by the available evidence.
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(i)

Trade, bills and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group performed recoverability review on the amounts of trade,
bills and other receivables, deposits and prepayments. The implication
of recoverability review is significant to our audit because the carrying
amount of trade, bills and other receivables, deposits and prepayments
of approximately HK$291,284,000 as at 31 December 2023 is material
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based on
estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits and
credit periods to customers and debtors;

- Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history with the
customers and debtors;

- Evaluating the Group’s recoverability assessment;
- Assessing aging of the debts;
- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

- Checking subsequent settlements and usage of the receivable
balance; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in
the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s recoverability review on trade, bills and
other receivables, deposits and prepayments is supported by the
available evidence.

(i)
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the information in the
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05498
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEmREMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Notes HK$’°000 HK$'000
iz3 FET FET
Continuing operation BESEEK
Revenue g 8 129,159 94,399
Cost of sales SHERA (126,967) (86,383)
Gross profit EF 2,192 8,016
Other income and loss, net Hib A RE1EF5 9 23,857 6,547
Distribution and selling expenses DIHRIHERT (4,760) (5,934)
Administrative expenses THFY (117,525) (126,539)
Loss from operation REEE (96,236) (117,910)
Finance costs AR 11 (@,777) 6,771)
Loss before tax BEAIEE 13 (101,013) (124,681)
Income tax expenses FiEHAX 12 - -
Loss for the year from continuing operation BHEEEEK o RFEEEHER (101,013) (124,681)
Discontinued operation BRIEREEK
Loss for the year from discontinued operation ~ BEA4X Q& T Y REEZEIR 14 - (103,334)
Loss for the year rFEEEFE (101,013) (228,015)
Other comprehensive expenses HitZ2mEAX
Items that may be reclassified to HEEEH A EE R ZEE
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign BREBINERIEEZINER BER
operations (10,444) (69,601)
Foreign currency translation reserve reclassified HEMB ARG EHNHEZIERZ
to profit or loss upon disposal of subsidiaries AN IR - (21,504)
(111,457) (319,120)
Items that will not be reclassified to BrEEN P B ER 2 EE -
profit or loss:
(Deficiency)/surplus arising on revaluation of EMYE  BEREEEE L
property, plant and equipment (TR)/ Btk (2,115) 48,227
Deferred tax effect arising on revaluation of BEEME  BERRBEEZET
property, plant and equipment B2 528 (8,120)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year KEE2EHZHELE (113,044) (279,013)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEmREMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-CF
Notes HK$’°000 HK$'000
iz3 FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to: THATEERFERR
Owners of the Company VN/NGIE DN
Loss from continuing operation RECEEBER (89,726) (99,249)
Loss from discontinued operation B S ETSER - (96,812)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company ARAREA ANEGER (89,726) (196,061)
Non-controlling interests FEE R
Loss from continuing operation SECEEBER (11,287) (25,432)
Loss from discontinued operation B HEEEIEER - (6,522)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interests IEIERRE R LB R (11,287) (31,954)
(101,013) (228,015)
Total comprehensive expenses for THATEEAFEZEBREE !
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company KAREEA (93,493) (207,385)
Non-controling interests IR (19,551) (71,628)
(113,044) (279,013)
Loss per share from continuing and BERCALREXK BRER
discontinued operation 17
Basic (HK cents per share) B (BAEN) (6.05) (15.54)
Diluted (HK cents per share) BSE (FAEN) (6.05) (15.54)
Loss per share from continuing operation BHEKLEEK 2 ETRER
Basic (HK cents per share) EAR(EREN) (6.05) (7.87)
Diluted (HK cents per share) BB (ZhEN) (6.05) (7.87)
Loss per share from discontinued operation BRI EEEK 2 EFRER
Basic (HK cents per share) B (BREN) N/A T3 (7.67)
Diluted (HK cents per share) BSE (BB N) N/A FiE (7.67)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ARE R &

At 31 December 2028 HA-ZT-=F+_-F=+—H

2023 2022
—ZEC-=F —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FET FET
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE NERE 18 203,463 273,319
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 19 60,496 78,045
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, EEWE  mELREZEMNETS
plant and equipment 635 2,077
264,594 353,441
Current assets RENEE
Inventories TE 20 40,504 36,599
Trade, bills and other receivables, FEUE S ERFN « iR & E b EUGBRE -
deposits and prepayments HE3SENE e 21 291,284 300,458
Financial assets at fair value through BAVEFAEZZEREE
profit or loss 50 104
Bank and cash balances IRITRIRES 84 22 2,598 6,252
334,436 343,413
Current liabilities mEEE
Trade and other payables FEE ZBR M B RS BR IR 23 305,254 278,468
Contract liabilities AHBE 24 3,541 5,342
Lease liabilities HEaE 19 3,679 4,152
Borrowings == 25 48,113 52,785
Amount due to the controlling shareholder — JE{xH2 B A% B BR 31 26 539 545
361,126 341,292
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 31 December 2028 HA-ZT-=F+_-F=+—H

2023 2022
—ZEC-=F —E-CF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
it FET FET
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(AE) EEFE (26,690) 2,121
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERREBAR 237,904 355,562
Non-current liabilities kFRBAE
Lease liabilities MEBE 19 1,513 5,341
Deferred tax liabilities FILTRIBEE 27 8,870 9,656
10,383 14,997
NET ASSETS EEFE 227,521 340,565
Capital and reserves ERKEE
Share capital N 28 148,349 148,349
Reserves i 29 269,678 380,427
Equity attributable to owners of R EEE NG I
the Company 418,027 528,776
Non-controlling interests FEERR (190,506) (188,211)
TOTAL EQUITY MR 227,521 340,565

The consolidated financial statements on pages 48 to 124 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Tin Kong

8

Director

EF

Cheng Hung Mui

LIPAR

Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEEmE R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FOREEARLE
Foreign Retained
Capital Asset currency profits/ Non-
Share  redemption Share  revaluation translation  (accumulated controlling
capital reserve premium reserve reserve losses) Total interests Total
i SNEER  RERA/
[ BEgE RiVEE EREMHE BE  (BHER) a FERER Ehy
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
FET FET FEr FET FEr FEr FEr FET FEL
At1 January 2022 RZE--F-f-H 123,650 624 838,412 4772 20,077 (222,946) 764,589 26,015 790,604
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) REEREMA/
forthe year (B%)eE - - - 8% @049 (96061 (07389 ey g0y
Revaluation surplus released upon HENE  BRRRER
disposal of property, plant and equipment BLAERRS - - - (117) - 17 - - -
Reversal of eferred tax bty upon ERBHRLEN
release of revaluation surplus ELHERERD - - - 4 - - 40 39 79
Capital reduction of a non-wholly —-HE2ENBLFY
owned subsidiary BHIA - - - - - - - (180,908) (180,908)
Disposal of subsidlaries k= EING - - - (159) - 159 - (624) (624)
Deemed disposal of non-controling interests B fEHE e g - - - - 6,033 (44,928) (38,895 38,895 -
Issue of shares Upon share placement RORERETRG 24,699 - (14,272) - - - 10,427 - 10,427
At 31 December 2022 i S
T-A=1+-H 148,349 624 824,140 40,361 (21,039) (463,659 528,776 (188,211) 340,565
A1 January 2023 W-E-=F-f-B 148,349 64 824140 40,361 (01039 (463659 58716 (188211) 340565
Total comprehensive expenses for the year ~ AEE2EHREH - - - (1,103) (2,664) (89,726) (93,493) (19,551) (113,044)
Deemed disposal of non-controling interests B EFEE X - - - - (430) (16,826) (17,256) 17,256 -
At 31 December 2023 2
TZA=z1+-A 148,349 624 824,140 39,258 (24,133 (570,211) 418,027 (190,506) 227,521
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEaRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—ZEC-=F —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETERZRERE
Continuing operation FELE TS
Loss before tax BRELATESE (101,013) (124,681)
Adjustments for: PATIEE B AR
Depreciation e 64,670 58,221
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 7,419 6,218
Finance costs ELE= VDN 4,777 6,771
Fair value changes on financial assets at BRAFEFABRCERMEEL
fair value through profit or loss NEEES) 54 (50)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFAEEE K= (8,114) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENE QRS - (25)
Impairment on trade receivables JEUE 5 BR K2 BIE 709 1,435
Interest income FBUA (334) (232)
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) H IR SR 2 RE, (R ERE )
on other receivables 7,050 (2,409)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEME  BEMREESE
equipment 12 1,874
Written off of property, plant and equipment ME - WE NEE 2 - 2,653
Operating cash flows before working capital LEECEHRZLERERE
changes (24,770) (50,225)
Change in contract liabilities BHIBEEE (1,664) (25,672)
Change in inventories FEE (4,907) 574
Change in trade and other payables JESHE B BRI B PR BR SR 34,397 23,129
Change in trade, bills and other receivables, FEWE SRR - B R EAMEKARK -
deposits and prepayments e RIENRIAE (6,652) 64,610
Cash (used in)/generated from operations (A, /TR & (3,596) 12,416
Interest received BHFIE 334 232
Tax paid EEFIE - (471)
(3,262) 12177
Discontinued operation BREREEE - 21,321
Net cash (used in)/generated from KeEES (FTA) FBELSTFE
operating activities (3,262) 33,498
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEaRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—EC-=HF —E_F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash flows from investing activities RETBZRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BAME - BB L& (3,562) (16,827)
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets HEFPEEEFISIUE 20,452 -
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, EBEME  BELXEZENEE
plant and equipment - (3,113)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH B AR - 1,394
16,890 (18,546)
Discontinued operation EREREEE - 189,562
Net cash generated from investing activities RETEEB2REFE 16,890 171,016
Cash flows from financing activities RETECRERE
Capital reduction of a non-wholly —MFREWBRARNERENR
owned subsidiary - (180,908)
Repayment of borrowings EEER (4,672) (32,215)
Interest paid BERFE (4,166) (5,594)
Repayment to the controlling shareholder BB IR SRR (36) (2,053)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEBR (4,606) (2,487)
Lease interest paid BEREEFE (611) (1,177)
Advance from the controlling shareholder TR B YRR AR R Ay AR 30 3,061
Proceeds from issue of shares BRI 2 1S 5RIE - 10,427
(14,061) (210,946)
Discontinued operation ERIEREEE - 21,824
Net cash used in financing activities RETBMAZEEEE (14,061) (189,122
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRESZEWORD) EMFHE
cash equivalents (433) 15,392
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUzReMReEEY
of the year 6,252 12,643
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate YN FE RS 2 S (3,221) (21,783)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRZRERBESEEY 2,598 6,252
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents ReERBESESENIN
Bank and cash balances RITRIRS 4 2,598 6,252
Representing ARy
Continuing operation EIBICBETS 2,598 6,252
Discontinuing operation RIS - -
2,598 6,252
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability. In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the Company’s controlling shareholder is Double Key
International Limited (the “Controlling Shareholder”), a company
incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability. The address
of its registered office and principal place of business are Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and Room 401A,
Empire Centre, 68 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
respectively. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. In 2022, the Group
discontinued its property development business, as well as the cultural
industry related business, including large-scale event production and
themed museums, and architectural design and engineering (the
“Property and Cultural Business”). In 2023, the Group principally
engaged in the manufacturing and sale of lithium ion motive battery,
lithium ion battery module, battery charging devices, battery materials
machines and production lines, new energy solution and sale of relevant
equipment, investments holding and import and export trading (the
“Lithium lon Motive Battery Business”).

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of HK$101,013,000 from continuing operation
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at 31 December 2023,
the Group had net current liabilities of HK$26,690,000. The cash and
bank balance is amounting to HK$2,598,000 as at 31 December 2023.
These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the financial support
of the Controlling Shareholder, at a level sufficient to finance the working
capital requirements of the Group. The Controlling Shareholder has
agreed to provide adequate funds for the Group to meet its liabilities
as they fall due. In addition, the Group completed the rights issue on
1 February 2024 and raised about HK$59.3 million. The Directors are
therefore of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be
unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be
made to the consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities, respectively.

—REHR

ARAREAREFMK LA —EERE Y
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$ BB ERBHEZHMBRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are
relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 January 2023. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”);
and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs
did not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies,
presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements and
amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective. The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to state
whether these new HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results
of operations and financial position.

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective 1 January 2023

The following amendments to standards have been adopted by
the Group for the first time for the financial year beginning on 1

3.

R R B BYBRE
ZRA([HBMBREER )

RAFEE  AEBCRNBTESFMAE
(IBEBEEMAE ) RMEZMAEN L
EFIRAEMBREEN (BB BRESE
Bl ZEEMBEEZERBEIN_-F
T A BRBZEFEREEN &
BUBRELENBEE LV B HREER
([BERMBREED ) BEGER
(TEBEER])  RRE - Rz EM
R REERT BB M SRS R W E G TN
SEEHBR  AEERAFEBEF
BZHFRaMBHRR2ERERER
EXREH -

AEBHRKEAEBMERERNHTE
B BHmEER - AEEERBFEZE
A BAMBREEN ZHE - HEAREE
FRAREHN BBV B RELENEEHE
BRMBGIRNBEATE -

(@) BRAFT RETEBHERE
A -B-ZE-_=Ff—H—H#
£

AEEER-_T-_=F—A— A%
B B B 2 B R ER AN T 51 E RIME AT

January 2023: PN

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

EEMBREERFE1TIR a4

HKAS 1 Amendments in relation to Disclosure of Accounting Policies

BB G ERIE15R BB EG S BERNIERT

HKAS 8 Amendments in relation to Definition of Accounting Estimates

HE gt LRI BREAgHET EENERT

HKAS 12 Amendments in relation to International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules
HEetERIZE125% EHABBRRISRE — £ S AR AINEET

HKAS 12

a Single Transaction
BEEGERE125%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IRE MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. BRI RLETERBUBERE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ZA([ BB BEHRELED ) (E)
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet (b) EEMERERNHFTEIET
effective ERMBEHREER

The following new and revised amendments to HKFRSs have
been issued but are not effective for the financial year beginning
on 1 January 2023, and have not been early adopted by the

Group.

REZHEM -

NOFRET B S 2R R EAERT
HERAR T - =F—
H—BRENMBRFEEN - BAE

) 1 R I AT ERAN

Effective for annual

periods beginning
on or after
RUTBEHR 2%
BRI EERBEN

HKFRS 16

BAM B EERE165
HKAS 1

BAGEAE1R
HKAS 1

BAG R
HKFRS 7 and HKAS 7

\_DII
S

0
SHr

BRU B RELER
BEGRTERIETH

HK-int 5

%/% u%%m kk5’3’ﬁ

HKAS 21

BB aFHERIFE2157

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

FEWHHREENE105E K

BB arERIFE285

Amendments in relation to Lease Liability
in a Sale and Leaseback

ERERHELRNHEHERBMNER]

Amendments in relation to Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current

EF%@J&%‘H@J%E?H f

Amendments in relation to Non—current Liabilities with
Conversants

BB ENIERB B ENERT

Amendments in relation to Supplies Finance
Arrangements

BRARERRE L PRIERT

Amendments in relation to Amendments to HKAS 1

ERAB B ERE1RMNEET MIEL AEET

Amendments in relation to Lack of Exchangeability

BRAERZ AT ARMEREET

Amendments in relation to Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture

BRAREEMRHEBENRRNEGE
ST EENER]

TrEZENEERE

1 January 2024

—ZmE—HA—H
1 January 2024
—Z_mNFE—H—H
1 January 2024
—ZEmE—HA—H
1 January 2024
—Z_mFE—H—H
1 January 2024
—ZEmE—HA—H
1 January 2025

e e =
TBD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, BEREFHEE

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA, and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for property, plant and equipment and
certain financial instruments, which are measured at revalued amounts
or fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of key assumptions and estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgments in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgments
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 December.
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability
to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the
entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as
well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to determine whether
it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has
the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the
control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the
Company.

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which the costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Goodwill
is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The method
of measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of other
assets as stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are not
subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition for the
purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured at
the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net fair value
of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation

@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates prevailing
on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation
policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When a gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IRE MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

()

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have
a functional currency different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s presentation currency
as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of
that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates);
and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities and of borrowings are
recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly factories and offices. Property, plant and
equipment are carried at fair values, based on periodic valuations
by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation and
impairment losses. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Revaluation increases of property, plant and equipment are recognised
in profit or loss to the extent that the increases reverse revaluation
decreases of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. All
other revaluation increases are credited to the asset revaluation reserve
as other comprehensive income. Revaluation decreases that offset
previous revaluation increases of the same asset remaining in the asset
revaluation reserve are charged against the asset revaluation reserve as
other comprehensive income. All other decreases are recognised in profit
or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property,
plant and equipment, the attributable revaluation increases remaining in
the asset revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained profits.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their revalued amounts less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of the lease or

25 years
Plant and Machinery 4%-33%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed
and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction and
plant and machinery pending installation, and is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets are
available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EAEFHBE(E)
Leases HE
The Group as Lessee AREEEBFATNA

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease
liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the Group.
Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated
at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are
as follows:

Buildings
Land

Over the lease term of 3 — 9 years
Over the lease term of 50 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments prepaid,
initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the
net present value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial
lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value
below HK$39,000 (equivalent to approximately US$5,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average basis. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure,
and where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement
of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Financial assets tREE

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date MEBEEDREAOBRTHBERHLE -
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract whose MABAIERTEFTRAEMBIEEREANR
terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by W AlemBEEZR S BEERRB LKL
the market concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus R WP EAFESNEEEFTRS
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of investments KATER - R AFEFABZZIRER
at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable AN o WEEIR N FEFABRZIREBEE
to the acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss are X ZKAENEF RIS ER o

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following AEBZEMEEIDEA

categories:

(@)  Financial assets at amortised cost @) EEEKIGEZ 2HEE
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are WemEE(RIERKE ZHHERE
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the following o FEURGRIE) 75 A& A TG B8 At
conditions: pay I
- the assets are held within a business model whose objective — BENZEEABEEEINK

is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows: MEHNBReRE 2 EBEXFF
and g &k
- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified — BEZANBREHZNETA
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and HEAGRBSINAS RE
interest on the principal amount outstanding. ReFEZHERE °
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the ZEEBERBRERABERN S A REE
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected credit RARIBEHIE E BB 2 BER G
losses. =i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Financial assets (Continued)
(b)  Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do
not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised cost and
the conditions of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at fair value with any gains or losses arising from
changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest
income and dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are the
weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default
occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the expected
credit losses that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit
losses”) for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables, or
if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables and contract assets) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents the expected
credit losses that result from default events on that financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss
allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required amount is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEASHBEE)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEEY
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash RREeREXRNST BeRkBeSEDE
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits RITEFHEENRE  BITREM S RIK
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid BZEHFEFRARATEADMSBE ZRE

investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in
the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are
set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract
with a customer with reference to the customary business practices and
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring control over a product or service to a customer.
Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the product or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive
payment are established.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Employee benefits

(@)

(b)

()

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to the at the end of
the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes
which are available to all employees. Contributions to the schemes
by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost
charged in profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves
the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a capitalisation rate
to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to it and that the
grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EAEFHBE(E)
Research and development expenses MERBEEMAX

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred. An internally generated intangible asset
arising from the Group’s development activities is recognised only if all of
the following conditions are met:

(@ Anasset is created that can be identified;

(b) It is probable that the asset created will generate future economic
benefits; and

(c)  The development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Where no internally
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure
is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part
of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

BiE (&)

BRERERMBRENEERABREE
B ERRTRMNAIRBERNE Y =5
TUBR - BEHBEE —RIEMERER
ME R EREER  MEEHREEENR
1R AT 8% % 3 FE AR 4 N & FB AT 4R B 22
B2IBERATA TUARR - RBARIEEE
SARBARIBE R BA o MEREE
HEENYRAER BT EERTUE
SBRNz RSz HMEERAE(ER
BRI FTES - AIFEREERBETT
LATERR ©

BEEFRBABRRRMBAR RBE QR Z
BREMELRRNERZET UER -
HAKREAENEFEREZHEED - MY
By 2= BR IR AT RE i TN & 10 R S 2R 3 [m] B B
B e

BREFRBEEZREAEBENINSREHRE
ThReS - WP AMREHIR c EEXEEH
JERBUS A ] 2 B BBy B E A T U]
ALk

BREFRBRERNBRERARACHEXEE
HEZHE  REPERNEEFELE
EERREHEFE - BEHRANELS
PR BRIFEERBATREME2EK
SR EENEGET TAERCER - £%
BAT  BERBATREMEERSNE
BN T IARER

ELERBEERARZIFTERRIEARH
Bt HmERAREKESEEEEERARE
ZIREEZHBERR

TR -FFEHRE REERARAT

73



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless
the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model
of the Group whose business objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax
for such investment properties are measured based on the expected
manner as to how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

@iy is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IRE MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

M

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

The entity and the Company are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the
Company or to a parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the financial statements are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the performance of
the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of productions processes, the type or class
of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet available
for use are reviewed annually for impairment and are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and other intangible assets except goodwill,
investment properties, investment, inventories and receivables, to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. EXEFBER(E)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period or those
that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are
adjusting events and are reflected in the financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5. BE#¥ETREFEM45

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the Directors have
made the following judgements that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the financial support
of the Controlling Shareholder at a level sufficient to finance the working
capital requirements of the Group and fund raised from rights issue
by the Group on 1 February 2024. Details are explained in Note 2 to
consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(@)  Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for the Group’s property, plant
and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives and residual values of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual values are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

()

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is determined with reference to the fair
value less costs of disposal and present value of estimated future
cash flows. Where the fair value less costs of disposal and future
cash flows are less than expected or there are unfavourable events
and change in facts and circumstance which result in revision of
fair value less costs of disposal and future estimate cash flows, a
material impairment loss may arise.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
based on assessments of the recoverability of the trade and other
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been changed.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion
and selling expense. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of manufacturing
and selling products of similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of changes in customer taste and competitor actions
in response to severe industry cycles. The Group will reassess the
estimates by the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IRE MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in the functional currencies of the Group entities of
HK$ and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

(b) Creditrisk

The carrying amount of the trade and other receivables included
in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s
financial assets.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history. Amounts due from the
subsidiaries disposed are closely monitored by the Directors. The
Directors make periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of trade and other receivables
based on historical settlement record and past experience. The
Directors believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in the
Group’s outstanding balance of other receivables.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that
counterparties fail to perform their obligations at 31 December
2023 in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amounts of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to its trade and other receivables. In order to minimise
credit risk, the Directors have delegated a team to be responsible
for the determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures. In addition, the Directors review the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt regularly to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for
irrecoverable debts. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. MERREE(E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREE)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentration of credit risk as approximately 16% (2022: 29%)
and 44% (2022: 60%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers,
respectively.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking information. Especially the following information
is used;

- internal credit rating;

- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligation; and

- significant changes in the expected performance and
behavior of the borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers.

The Group uses two categories for non-trade receivables
which reflect their credit risk and how the loan loss provision is
determined for each of the categories. In calculating the expected
credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category and adjusts for forward looking data.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer

term.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

B Rk e (4])

(c) HRBELEAMR
AEE K RTEHAERB A RTEH
ZRBEBEESFR - MR EE 4
FemReFELNENEEHELIERR
R REEeH K -

AEBZzeRBEIHOMET

Carrying
amounts Total contractual undiscounted cash flow
FEE ENREBRERELE
Lessthan  Between1  Between2 Over
Total iyear and2years and5years 5 years
b - -FE@ME WERLE RENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
31 December 2023 “Z-=F+-A=1-H
Trade and other payables EREZRARIERNERR 305,254 305,254 305,254 - - -
Borrowings - 48,113 51,962 51,962 - - -
Amount due to the Controlling [ENEREEER
Shareholder 539 539 539 - - -
Lease liabilities HERRE 5,192 5,485 3,926 1,559 - -
359,098 363,240 361,681 1,559 - -
31 December 2022 —E-__F+ZA=1-H
Trade and other payables RO ESE 278,468 278,468 278,468 - - -
Borrowings - 52,785 57,008 57,008 - - -
Amount due to the Controling BN ERIREEH
Shareholder 545 545 545 - - -
Lease liabilties HEEE 9,493 10,326 4,684 4,040 1,602 -
341,291 346,347 340,705 4,040 1,602 -

Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and
liabilities, the Group’s operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s

borrowings bear interests at fixed interest rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IRE MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6.
(e) Fair values
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values.

() Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each of the category of the Group’s
financial instruments at the end of the year are as follows:

B 7S [ B B B (48)

(e) A¥E
REFE IR R R 2 AN E B
BEMeHBEZROEHEZAR
FERE -

(h RERESsz2EWMIA

RER AEESESRMTAZER
(ER NN

2023 2022
—E-=F R CF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Investments at fair value through profit or BRAFEGFABRZZESE
loss:
Designated as such upon initial LRI IEE
recognition 50 104
Financial assets at amortised cost RN AR 2 SR EE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BIERESMRESEED) 280,368 287,224
Financial liabilities TRIAE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHENATRZ cRBE 353,906 331,798
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. AEEFE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

REPERRFITEAMS2EBERBKRFR
STHEEERWNSEREEAEXNZ
B - LTAFEAERBENDRAQTE
R RBEAZES R=EGERE
RRANEEAFE

F-FRBRARE  AEEARNFGERE
Mz AREEXRBBERNERTS 2 HRECK

) -
E-ZMBARE  RAELABTEE
LEERERGNGRE— SR REZ
2 8B -

FZERBARE  BEXABEZTAE
HEABUR ©

TR -FFEHRE REERARAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. DFEFEE)

AEBZBRRENSIEER 2 FHAIBEN
BEREZARREMN=_ESR2EAL

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any
of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances

that caused the transfer. B o
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy: (@) ATFEERBEREE:
2023
—E-=fF
Fair value measurements using:
AV EFEHRA
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-ERK FIER FZER et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FETT FETT FET
Recurring fair value measurements KEMNLEHE
Financial assets at fair value A ERAEBE
through profit or loss SREE
Listed securities in Hong Kong B EHES 50 - - 50
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE NG - - 203,463 203,463
2022
=B F
Fair value measurements using:
NEFTERA
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EFE—EH FIEH  B=EH, “Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET BT
Recurring fair value measurements REMNLEHE
Financial assets at fair value AT ERAEBE S
through profit or loss SREE
Listed securities in Hong Kong B FES 104 - - 104
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB NEE - - 273,319 273,319
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. DAEEFE(E)
(b) Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment b)) ENFE=ZZLRRLAFETEZY
measured at fair value based on level 3: ¥ BERZREHE:
2023 2022
—E-= —ECF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEr
At 1 January n—HA—H 273,319 300,032
Addition NE 3,662 16,849
Total gains or losses recognised in other AE M 2 E e P R A B = 2 5
comprehensive income (2,115) 48,227
Disposal k= (10) (1,874)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 30(b)) SN B AR (HF30b)) - (2,846)
Written-off ks - (2,653)
Depreciation e (64,670) (58,540)
Currency realignment BT (6,623) (25,876)
At 31 December R+—-_A=+—H 203,463 273,319

(c)

The total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive
income are presented in (deficiency)/surplus arising on revaluation
of property, plant and equipment in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

The Group’s finance team is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. The
finance team reports directly to the Directors for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and results are
held between the finance team and the Directors at least twice a
year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised professional
qualifications and recent experience to perform the valuations.

(c)

REMZEKETERHBRDZEER
freBahkEtemiaRh AER
M BERRBEEZ(TR)/&
FRETI

HER-F-=FR=-¥==
+=A=+—BAREFRAZ
AR R EERSRAFET
BT R 2 0 A% -

REBNMFEEF A M HRAE
EHWEERABEAFENE B
F=FRATEFE - WEEGER
MEE2RALEATEFE - UBE
BREEEFEIETMRAEBME
BIERAERO R ©

RE=ZSRANFEAEMNS  AEH
BESEREABERTEXRERE
BT RE RO BEETERETR
1=

ZE=FFERE
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

7. DVEREGE)

(c)

BER

—E-=fR-B-=

tT-RA=+—REKERERAZ
HERFRMEERTRAFERT

(Continued) EffRAzEA"E - (&)
Effect on fair
Valuation Unobservable value for increase Fair value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2023
EYILTPN ¢4 b St 2
HH HEHRT L EE PN ¢ £E ATEZEE ZAVE
HK$°000
FE
Plant and machinery, motor Direct comparison Market value for similar assets  RMB1,500 - RMB148,600  Increase
vehicles, office equipment and depreciated  BUIEE A AR 500TE 11
and leasehold improvement replacement cost AR148,6007T
BERES  B8H PAE  EENRERNE
HERAENREE BENANE 203,463
Effect on fair
Valuation Unobservable value for increase Fair value
Description technique inputs Range of inputs 2022
i ABER Y it a3
A fhiERT TABRRARE g AHEZRE ZRYHE
HK$'000
FET
Plant and machinery, motor ~ Direct comparison Market value for similar assets  RMB1,200 - RMB209,000  Increase
vehicles, office equipment and depreciated  JEMIEEZH{E AREE1200E #m
and leasehold improvement  replacement cost AR #209,0007T
BERES B8 HAER EENREIRNES
BERRENEEE BRANE 273,319
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8.

REVENUE 8.

The Group’s revenue was derived from lithium ion motive battery
products sold and internet sales during the year and last year.
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is set out as
below. For both years, all revenue generated by the Group were derived
from the PRC and recognised at a point in time when the customers
obtain control of the goods or services.

g

AEBRAFER E—FEZHRERED
EEMTINELERRIRBPHEE - F
FafizWasmamT - RMEFEA -
AEBEEZABRAGKEPEILNE
BE el IR I FIRE R B R BAFERR o

P

2023 2022
—E-=F B
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET
Lithium ion motive battery products TN B ER 129,159 93,791
Property development and cultural service W EEB R MU RS - 7,809
Internet sales EEHE - 608
129,159 102,208

Representing D RE
Continuing operation FREEETS 129,159 94,399
Discontinued operation (Note 14) BRI EETE (1 aF14) - 7,809
129,159 102,208

TR FFERE
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8. REVENUE (Continued) 8. W=(&)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers and major REBFPEHARSHETBEER ZWEMAY
products of the segments are as follows: N
Discontinued
Continuing operation operation
24
Lithium lon Property
Motive Internet and
Battery Sales Cultural
Business Business Total Business Total
HEErEH EHE WER
Bt HEXK st XL EH @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET

2023 —B-=H§

Major products/service TEER/ B

Batteries Eul 129,159 - 129,159 - 129,159
2022 S

Major products/service TEER/RB

Batteries Bt 93,791 - 93,791 - 93,791
Properties mE - - - 393 393
Provision of event production service RALTE IR - - - 7,416 7,416
Internet sales OHEHE - 608 608 - 608

93,791 608 94,399 7,809 102,208
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8. REVENUE (Continued) 8. W=(&)

Sales of Batteries

The Group manufactures and sells batteries to the customers. Sales are
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when
the products are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products and the
customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 30 to 60
days. For non state-owned enterprise or those without guarantee
provided, deposits or cash on delivery may be required. Deposits
received are recognised as contract liability.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered to
the customers as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.

Development and sales of properties

The Group develops and sells properties to the customers. Sales of a
contract are recognised when control of the property has transferred,
being when the customer obtains the physical possession or the legal
title of the completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

Provision of event production service

The Group provides event production service to the customers.
When the progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligations of a contract can be measured reasonably, revenue from the
contract and the contract costs are recognised.

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group according to the
payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts. If the service rendered
by the Group exceeds the payments, a contract asset is recognised.
If the payments exceed the service rendered, a contract liability is
recognised.

AEELERATFHEED - EEMZ
EHREER  ERIXNTEP @ X#
BA Y ERFPEMEMMRBHRL R
BEPREBEMIBEMBRER - BRIHE -

AEFELZHEE ZFEEH R RI0E60
Ao BNFRELEABERDIE  FX
MRIMEEHAE - ARRZIZSER
REWEE -

BEMXNTEFRERBUKEENR - U
WER BT EGEN - YRR A ERIAER
B -REET SR -

L YSE Y E S

AEERERATFHENE - EWEZ
THIREEE  HERFEGRINEZE
BRATERRBIEMBRARANEEER K
U 3R 2 378 RN AR 7] BE ER R (BB
FERAHMHE -

REEBRIERTE

AEBREFFPREMLEBRIERY - EAE
B EAWETERKENETZEAE
2Ry - BIER S AU M A LR -

BEPREBEAONTAZNKE B AAEE
XNAHE - WAKREREMR 2 REEER
MR - RIERAMNEE - WIS RBHEA
RMHZRBEE  RERASOEE -
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9. OTHER INCOME AND LOSS, NET

10.

9. HMWAREIEFE

2023 2022
—E=-= B —
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest income FLEHA 334 332
Government grants AT ED 63 306
Gain on disposal of scrap products HE RN = 5,623 1,565
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFRAEEERE 8,114 -
Gain on waiver of trade payables RN RS S 17,401 -
Fire insurance claim income for the written-off  #fi$5¥1% - M= &FES
property, plant and equipments NSEARBR BE TR - 5,577
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 30(b)(i) 1 &} & A TS (H15230(b)(i) - 25
Rental income HaBA - 1,006
Impairment loss on trade receivables JEWE 5 BR TR B R 18 (709) (1,435)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss ~ E i EWBE = 2 CRl{EESIE ) RiE
on other receivables [E1E#E el (7,050) 2,409
Written off of property, plant and equipment L EN P - (2,653)
Others Hib 81 665
23,857 7,797
Representing DRE
Continuing operation FEEET 23,857 6,547
Discontinued operation (Note 14) B IEREEE (M iF14) - 1,250
23,857 7,797

Note:

On 3 November 2023, the Intermediate People’s Court of Shenzhen city ordered
Tesson New Energy (Shenzhen) Limited (“Tesson Shenzhen”), a subsidiary of
the Company, to pay approximately RMB1,522,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,676,000) and overdue interests to the supplier. The remaining balance of
approximately RMB15,740,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$17,401,000)
was waived for the year ended 31 December 2023.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer
different products. They are managed separately because each business
unit requires different technology and marketing strategies. During the
current year, the Group’s revenue was derived from the Lithium lon
Motive Battery Business and internet sales business. In the prior year,
the Group’s revenue was derived from the lithium ion motive battery
business, internet sales business, and property and cultural business,
the discontinued operation.

Segment profits or losses do not include unallocated corporate income
and expenses. Segment assets do not include unallocated corporate
assets. Segment liabilities do not include unallocated corporate liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. P EER (&)
Information about profit or loss, assets and liabilities of the reportable ERAREWyBRFNER  EEREE
segments: AR
Discontinued
Continuing operation operation
2L
Lithium lon Property
Motive Internet and
Battery Sales Cultural
Business Business Total Business Total
#REFHH B WER
NS HEXK st XL st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET

Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-S-=F+=§

=t-HLEE
Revenue from external customers NP Bz 129,159 - 129,159 - 129,159
Segment loss NEER (71,486) (7,601) (79,087) - (79,087)
Depreciation e 64,576 65 64,641 - 64,641
Depreciation of right-of-use assets %}ﬂ% BERE 4,203 451 4,654 - 4,654
Additions to segment non-current assets  ARE DR EE 6,571 - 6,571 - 6,571
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+_#

=+-H
Segment assets NipEE 594,943 2,621 597,564 - 597,564
Segment liabilties R =N 270,788 2,219 273,007 - 273,007
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E-—F+=H

:'l' - El JJZEFE
Revenue from external customers IR P s 93,791 608 94,399 7,809 102,208
Segment loss DEPERE (93,331) (3,462 (96,793) (103,334) (200,127
Depreciation E 57,563 65 57,628 319 57,947
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBERE 4,992 474 5,466 2,064 7,530
Additions to segment non-current assets  AE DR EE 22,402 - 22,402 303 22,705
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-ZF+ZH

=+-H
Segment assets NHEE 687,009 4,385 691,394 - 691,394
Segment liabilities SEEE 254,818 2,779 257,597 - 257,597
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. P EER (&)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and AZWmy s mhEE  BEERE
liabilities: EHER
2023 2022
—E=-= B —
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Revenue g
Total revenue of reportable segments A 2W 5 Fh e 129,159 102,208
Reclassification of discontinued operation ENDBE R EER - (7,809)
Consolidated revenue from continuing NEF GBS ERIRA W
operation for the year 129,159 94,399
Profit or loss A E R
Total loss of reportable segments Al 2o 4aE1E (79,087) (200,127)
Corporate and unallocated loss PERARDEEE (21,926) (27,888)
Reclassification of discontinued operation EI D BERIHEEER - 103,334
Consolidated loss from continuing operation REEIFEREERIESER
for the year (101,013) (124,681)
Assets EE
Total assets of reportable segments AI2WMOEREE 597,564 691,394
Corporate and unallocated assets PERRSAEEE 1,466 5,460
Consolidated total assets REBEE 599,030 696,854
Liabilities afE
Total liabilities of reportable segments AEmoHRaE 273,007 257,597
Corporate and unallocated liabilities PERRIIEEE 98,502 98,692
Consolidated total liabilities mERaRE 371,509 356,289
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. P EER (&)

Geographical information

All revenue generated by the Group were derived from the PRC.

A&z FrBEKRETIRE PR -

Revenue from major customers: FERPME
2023 2022
—EC-=E T F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FAETT FEIT

Customer A ZEA 21,001 N/A 7~
Customer B =FEB 14,698 N/A i
# Customer did not contribute more than 10% of the total consolidated

revenue of the Group in 2022.

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based on the
location of the customers. At the end of the year, the non-current assets

# BPFR B _FUERHAKESEIR
ol

mHEEE10%A | -

RETH R ERE - Wi P e Sl

pa

7o RER REBBEREBEEM MM

of the Group were located as follows: ™
2023 2022
—ZE== —EC
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET

Non-current assets IRBEE

Hong Kong i 634 1,424
The PRC s 263,960 352,017
264,594 353,441
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11. FINANCE COSTS

11. @ERAK

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET T

Interest expenses on borrowings BEMBMX 4,166 10,814
Lease interests HERE 611 1,177
4,777 11,991
Less: Interest capitalisation i FBERE - (4,824)
4,777 7,167

Representing papllys
Continuing operation B L ETS 4,777 6,771
Discontinued operation (Note 14) B IEREETE (M aF14) - 396
4,777 7,167
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 12. FR8BIEAX

2023 2022

—E-=F —ECF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the year KFEEZHHPZEREM - 4

Representing palilly=

Continuing operation SIEC - -
Discontinued operation (Note 14) BRI EETE (H5F14) - 4

- 4
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 12.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was required since the Group
has no assessable profit in Hong Kong for the years presented.

According to the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, all group
companies operating in the PRC are subject to the applicable tax rate
of 25%, except for certain subsidiaries that are qualified for the tax
benefit of being the National High-tech Enterprise, that are entitled to a
preferential tax rate of 15% during the reporting years.

The reconciliation between the income tax and the loss before tax is as

FRr&E8R < ()

MR A BN 25 FREESE W ERERK
A BB B NS L -

RBFBEDEMBHL - RPBEEHA
BRERRALBERBRR25%EMIHIA -
EETHERARNEERFARRSIK
MERZHEEE  AIRREFEERE

B E15% ©

PRSI EERR IR AT B R 2 SRR T ¢

follows:
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Loss before tax BRI ATE R (101,013) (124,681)
Notional tax on loss before tax calculated at B EEER R E 2R AT
the PRC statutory rate Bz 2 EHIA (25,253) (31,170)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERRBRAZRIETE (5,654) (50)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR AT 2 B & 1,432 211
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBIBERB G E 21,962 22,717
Effect of different tax rates in other tax HEu g el AR TR R &
jurisdictions and tax concessions MIBR R 2 & 7,513 8,292
Income tax expenses for the year FAFERAS - -

“EC=FFEHRE
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13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 13. REEEE
(@  The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the (a) AEEHELLSERZAFEEER
following: Mg GIA) T SEEYIR
2023 2022
—=E=-= ke St
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Continuing operation BEREEK
Auditor’s remuneration ZEE & 900 1,000
Cost of inventories sold BEFERA 126,967 86,383
Depreciation e 64,670 58,221
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FREEENE 7,419 6,218
Gain on disposal of right-of-use asset HEFRREEE W (8,114) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYE  BENMKEZER
equipment 10 1,874
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at ~ IEAFEFABRZ CREEY
fair value through profit or loss ANEEEE (W) 54 (60)
Research and development expenses e Rk FRERE 24,351 20,586
Staff costs (including directors’ BT
remuneration (Note 15)): (BIEESME(HiE15))
Salaries, bonus and allowances N - 125 KERL 27,837 33,788
Retirement benefits BIREF 3,292 3,825
Discontinued operation BRIREEK
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERAR - 5,872
Depreciation e - 319
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENSE - 2,153
Staff costs (including director’s B TR
remuneration (Note 15)): (BREEEME (HE15))
Salaries, bonus and allowances N - 2 KRR - 11,575
Retirement benefits RIKEF - 965
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13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

(b)  Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) and written-off on

13. A FEFHEE)

b ZREEZRERRE (CREBER

various assets: [m) s
2023 2022
—E-= —ECF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment ZE&E>
loss) on various assets WEEECRESERE)
Impairment loss on trade receivables eI E SR BE 18 709 1,435
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) E-ft gl iE =k >
on other receivables BEEE, CREEBEE) 7,050 (2,409)
7,759 (974)
Written-off on various assets LIEEE 2 M
Written off of property, plant and ME - S N ERAE 2 s
equipment - 2,653
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

As detailed in Note 30(b)(i), the Group discontinued its Property and
culture Business in 2022. Loss for the year from discontinued operations

is analysed as follows:

14. CRILEEXETE

SFANBEE30DO)()FFM - AEBMER T =
FRIPEYERALETR - BDRIEEEE
B2 RNFEEBESIIT

2022
—E-—F
HK$’000
FET

Loss from discontinued operation
Loss on disposal of discontinued operation (Note 30(b)(i)

BRI TS 1A (14,620)
HHE B AR SRS EIB (A7 22300)0)) (88,714)

(103,334)

The results and cash flows of the discontinued operation for the year BE—_Z2-—"F#+-_A=+—HIFE "

ended 31 December 2022 were detailed as follows:

BRI EEBEERBOREFHNOT ¢

2022
B F
HK$’000
FET
Revenue e 7,809
Cost of goods sold SHERA (5,872)
Gross profit EH 1,937
Other income EHAbA 1,250
Distribution and selling expenses DR IHE R (2,875)
Administrative expenses THFAX (14,532)
Loss from operations K EE (14,220)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZEE (88,714)
Loss from operations IR IR (102,934)
Finance costs BhE AR (396)
Loss before tax BT RIE R (108,330)
Income tax expense FrigBiF X (4)
Loss for the year REEEE (103,334)
Operating cash flows BEREME 21,321
Investing cash flows KREREME 189,562
Financing cash flows BEREME 21,824
Total cash flows REmE1EE 232,707
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 15. EERENVBSHFALTZEHE
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of each Director were as follows: BEE e -
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
FMR RREF
e Hitp @7 BE 5 w@st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Executive Directors BiTES
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui gt 180 1,218 18 1,416
Mr. Tin Kong H 8 50 180 929 162 1,271
Mr. Chan Wei BRERE 180 1,008 18 1,206
Ms. Liu Liu el e 180 1,020 - 1,200
Ms. Yu Xiaolei REELT(R-_T-=F
(Appointed on 1 October 2023) +A—REZT) 45 255 - 300

Independent Non-Executive Directors B EE{TEE

Dr. Ng Ka Wing RREMBL 180 - - 180
Mr. Wang Jinlin FTemtk 180 - - 180
Mr. See Tak Wah ML 180 - - 180
Total for the year ended BE_T_=F

31 December 2023 T A=t+—BHIFEE:T 1,305 4,430 198 5,933

—EoFFEHE REERERAE 99



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 15. EERENVBSHFALTZEHE
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (&)
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
& RRGEM
e HAAEH BE G et
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Executive Directors HTEE
Ms. Cheng Hung Mui BaTigt 180 1,218 18 1,416
Mr. Tin Kong H 8 50 A 180 914 18 1,112
Mr. Chan Wei BRELAE 180 993 18 1,191
Ms. Liu Liu B+ 180 1,020 - 1,200

Independent Non-Executive Directors By {TEE

Dr. Ng Ka Wing RREBL 180 - - 180
Mr. Wang Jinlin IEMmESE 180 - - 180
Mr. See Tak Wah ML 180 - - 180
Total for the year ended BE-Z-—F
31 December 2022 TZA=T—BEFESH 1,260 4,145 54 5,459
The five highest paid employees during the year included four (2022: RAFERN&ERFEERENE(ZE
four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in information ZTFEEF)EE - AMEFBEERN L
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining one (2022: one) non- MER c REEHT—HB(ZT__F : —
director, highest paid employee for the year are as follows: BIFEZESFTEEZHESFBAT
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Salaries and other benefits SN N2 B At 4 A 533 1,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

15. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The number of non-directors, highest paid employee whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

15.

Eﬁg%&fﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁkii%ﬁ

MENFTIBEZFEEESHREEZ
ZgEMT

Number of employees

EE®AR
2023 2022
—EC=HF —E-F
Emolument band BN & & E
HKSnil - HK$1,000,000 =T — 1,000,000/ 7T 1 1

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals, including
Directors, as an inducement to join the Group or as compensation for
loss of office other than those disclosed above. In addition, during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no Directors waived any
emoluments.

The Group provides retirement benefits in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations in the place where the staff is employed. The Group
participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme
for its employees located in Hong Kong, under which contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employee’s basic salary according
to the rules of the scheme. Forfeited contributions may not be used to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

16. DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

17. LOSS PER SHARE

(@) From continuing and discontinued operation

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of
the Company is based on the loss for the year of approximately
HK$89,726,000 (2022: HK$196,061,000) attributable to owners of
the Company and the weighted average number of 1,483,486,700
(2022: 1,261,531,347) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

16.

17.

REEZZE-_=FR-E-__F+=H
=+ —HIEFE  FNEBFERRKR SR
BREIZANGRSFAT(BEESR)Y
NENE - tERINBASEEZ 2E) - siiER
KEBA ZBEE - o RBE=ZT==
ER—FE-_—F+-_A=+—HILEE -
MEEEREAAME -

REEERE Tt 3t MR AR AR IR
HRKEN - ARER/EUNEBNESR
2ma st AR RKENEE - RIEZ
AEIMRA ARBERBEEEEATEN
—E B AR o SRR B AR
FAKIRA R EFOKF o

R

HE_Z-_=F#+-_A=+—HItFE "
EEevERSRNTMBRE (-
F4E) o

FREE

(a) REFBECEXBRERILEE
£

BIRBEAEIR

AAaEBEARBEERELRER
TIREBERRBIER ABMLAFE
518 989,726,000/ L (Z T = —
F :196,061,00078 7T) R FRNE &
771,483,486,700 % ( — & = =
1,261,531,347 %) L@ 2 hiAEF15
HETH -

TR -FFEHRE REERARAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

17. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

(@) From continuing and discontinued operation
(Continued)

Diluted loss per share
No diluted loss per share is presented as the Company did not
have any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the two years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(b) From continuing operation
Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share from continuing operation
is based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$89,726,000 (2022: HK$99,249,000). The
denominator used is the same as that detailed above for basic loss
per share.
Diluted loss per share
No diluted loss per share is presented as the Company did not
have any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the two years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(c) From discontinued operation
Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share from discontinued operation
is based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company of

approximately HK$nil (2022: HK$96,812,000). The denominator
used is the same as that detailed above for basic loss per share.

Diluted loss per share
No diluted loss per share is presented as the Company did not

have any dilutive potential ordinary shares during the two years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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17. BREBE(E)

(a)

(b)

(c)

REFESLEEBRCRILEE
% (&)

L RAEE R

ERARRREBE S -_=Gr_F
T oF+ A=+ —HIEREFEY
AR EERNEEL @R - i)
WiE 27| G E RS -

REFREEEE
BRE A 78

AAREEANEBGEFESEEK 2
AR E AR BB IRIEAN R 5 E AEL
[E5184989,726,0008 (= F = — 4 :
99,249,000 7T ) 5t & © FTA 9 & 8
A SR EREET A S &
EIES

B IRAEE R

ERARRREBE S -_=GFr_F
T oF+Z A=+ —HIEREFEY
AR EERNEEL @R - i)
WiE 25| G EE1E -

REDKRIEREX
BRI 1S

KAREBEABRMLERIEEEER
ZERERNBEDIRERNAREAR
ANEEBBROSEETL(ZE ==
96,812,000 70 ) 5t & © PR » &
XA SR EREET A S &
EIES

L RAEE R

ERARRRBEE S -_=Fr_F
T oF+ZA=+—HIEREFEY
AR EENEEL @R - i)
W iR 27| G EE1E -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
wrE MR E MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. M1%¥ - BMERZE
Leasehold Plant and Motor Office  Construction
improvements machinery vehicles equipment  in progress Total
U
k¢ BERES Bf  BAERE ERIE a3t

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
FET TET T TAT FET FET

Cost or valuation HAZE
At 1 January 2022 W-E-—%-A-H 63,327 323,441 4,966 5,258 32,514 429,506
Currency realignment EEAE 4,39) (23,660) (224) (359) (2.994) (31,633
Additions HE 1,336 991 494 116 13,913 16,849
Disposals e - (2,611) (806) (555) - (3972
Disposal of subsicliries (Note 30(b)) LERBRRAMH 300) - (3,248) (1,154) (1,339 - (5,740)
Writien-off it (4339) (1,687) (189 (625) - (6,840)
Adjustment arising on revaluation ERMELZHE (13,800) (106,942) (2,447) (1,659) - (124,851)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-B-—#+-F=1+-H

k=Z-=%-f-H 42,125 186,284 640 837 43,433 273,319
Currency realignment ElER (1,099) 4,320) (19) (19) (1,170) (6,629)
Additions B 45 2,704 - 26 87 3,562
Disposals e - - - (12 - (12
Transfer 2 1872 (1,872) - - - -
Adjustment arising on revaluation RERMEEZ A% (10,508) (55,862) (105) (308) - (66,783
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=F+ZA=1—H 3,435 126,934 520 524 43,050 203,463
Accumulated depreciation and impairment i TERFE
At 1 January 2022 W-2-~%-F-H 19,718 103,401 3,409 2,946 - 129,474
Currency realignment ElER (1,019 (4,397) (131) (210) - (5,757)
Charge for the year FRFEY 10,613 46,374 906 648 - 58,640
Disposals e - (1,052) (772) (274) - (2,098)
Written off s (3.437) (339) (156) (256) - (4,187)
Disposal of subsidlaries (Note 30(b)) HENBRRMH 300) - (1,190) (572) (1,132) - (2,894)
Eliminated on revaluation Bt (25,875) (142,798) (2,689) (1,722) - (173,078)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 WZEZZF+-R=1-8H

R=Z-=5-A-H - - - - - -
Charge for the year FRFEY 10,817 53,548 74 231 - 64,670
Disposals e - - - ) - [
Transfer iy 109 (109 - - - -
Eliminated on revaluation B (10,926) (53,439) (74) (229) - (64,668)
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=E+-A=1-H - - - - - -
Carrying amounts RAE
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA=1-H 32,435 126,934 520 524 43,050 203,463
At 31 December 2022 RZE-—FE+-A=1-H 42,125 186,284 640 837 43,433 273,319
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. W¥ - MEKRE (&)
(Continued)
At 31 December 2023, the Group’s property, plant and equipment of NR-_EBE-_=F+=-_A=+—H ' K&EH
HK$5,812,000 (2022: HK$12,047,000) were pledged to secure the Y BERFRES812,0008 T (=ZF
acquisition of investment in an associate (Note 34). T 1 12,047,000/8 70 ) B R AR

WEEN — B E AR IRE (FH5E84) ©

Had all the categories of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, WAREE SEYHE  BWERRE(EEL
other than construction in progress, been carried at cost less RN TR AR R2ET T EY IR - AlY
accumulated depreciation, the carrying values of property, plant and ¥ HEMREEATYIEREEER :

equipment would have been stated as follows:

2023 2022
St —F--
Accumulated Accumulated
depreciation depreciation
and Carrying and Carrying
Cost  impairment amounts Cost  imparment amounts
BitE ZithE
S R REE g KA KmfE

HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS'000
FET FET FET T TAT TAT

Leasshold improvements HENMELEE 51,544 28,239 23,305 51,109 28,348 22,761
Plant and machinery B Rtz 388,542 249,300 139,242 392,030 249,191 142,839
Motor vehicles i 7,301 6,822 479 7,316 6,748 568
Office equipment WRERE 5,257 4,569 688 5,262 4,338 924

452,644 288,930 163,714 405,717 288,625 167,092
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

19. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 190. HERFHAEEE
Disclosures of lease-related items: WEBEREER
2023 2022
—EC=HE T F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FAET FET
At 31 December: W+t=—BA=+—8:
Right-of-use assets EREEE
- Land — i 56,506 70,414
— Building —1&F 3,990 7,631
60,496 78,045

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted ERRURIBERENTEE

cash flows, of the Group’s lease liabilities is HEABENIEHBE W T
as follows:
Within one year —F R 3,926 4,684
In the second year E_F 1,559 4,040
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-FEFERAF(BREEMT) - 1,602
5,485 10,326
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=+—HLFE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREESENITERS
- Land — i 1,412 1,706
— Building —EF 6,007 6,665
7,419 8,371
Total cash outflow for leases HEMBRSRLEE 5,217 3,664
Additions to right-of-use assets NETREEE 2,529 1,504
Lease interests HERN S 611 1177
The Group leases various buildings and land. Lease agreements AEBHEZEET LM - HEHZR
are typically made for fixed periods of 3 to 9 years. Lease terms are B EHRBE A3EIF o MEKR I
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different PIEMEEITER - B8 SETRMERK
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any & o ME W I B NEMR 225 - A8
covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security for EEETSREEERENER

borrowing purposes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

19. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

20.

19. HEREHEEE (&)

(Continued)
Present value Present value
Lease of lease Lease of lease
payments payments payments payments
2023 2023 2022 2022
HE HE
HEMAK NRBRE HERK NFHE
—ECZ=E —EC=E —E--F —E--
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Within one year —FR 3,926 3,679 4,684 4,152
In the second year F_F 1,559 1,513 4,040 3,786
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-EZFRF(RAEENE) - - 1,602 1,666
5,485 5,192 10,326 9,493
Future finance charges AABMEER (293) - (833) -
Present value of lease obligations THEAERE 5,192 5,192 9,493 9,493
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 JE - P12ME AREIEEETUR
months (shown under current liabilities) (RREBETIIR) (3,679) (4,152
Non-current portion ERE D 1,513 5,341
INVENTORIES 20. 7&
2023 2022
—EC=HF —EoF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Raw materials R 7,966 6,023
Work in progress ERG 8,852 1,664
Finished goods 2IRK 23,686 28,912
40,504 36,599
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

21. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 21. EWEZRAR EEREMER
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS R T RFENRIE
2023 2022
—EBEC=F T
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FEIT
Trade receivables FEUE F R 30,239 14,174
Less: Impairment losses JR - OR(EEE (2,067) (1,398)
28,172 12,776
Bills receivable R = 578 -
Value-added tax receivables FEMEET 11,055 12,362
Consideration receivable from vendor of ERLENBARH
disposal of subsidiaries (Note 30(b)(i)) FEURRAB (B722300b)()) 11,013 11,317
Amount due from the subsidiaries B HEHBRRMN
disposed (Note 30(b)(i)) SIE(K730b)0) 209,620 230,163
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TERTFIE ~ 5T REMEWFIE 30,846 33,840
291,284 300,458

Trade receivables

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 60 days to its
customers which are state-owned enterprise or those with guarantee
provided, and cash on delivery for all other customers. The following is
an aging analysis of trade receivables, presented based on the invoice

date at the end of the years:

FEW & 5 BRX

HRBEACERPRORBHERZER
AEE i T FORKRMB0E60R : MATA
HEFPHYUNEERMZ T NETRS © A
TREREZEINEFERZERTAY
252 REE DT -

2023 2022

—E-=F TET 4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

0 to 60 days 0Z60H 26,041 8,086
61 to 90 days 61290H 298 2,150
Over 90 days clo]=1> 1,833 2,540
28,172 12,776
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

21. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 21. EWEZRF - EERHEMEK
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) R AIERBEAREE)
Impairment of trade receivables W E S ERFURE
Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables: JRUNE SR 2 IS BB R -

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
At beginning of the year NG (1,398) (6,804)
Impairment on trade receivables BN E SRR 2 RE (709) (1,435)
Written off the impairment for the year REEHMEHRE - 183
Reversal of impairment on trade receivables HEWBARZEWE SR
from disposal of subsidiaries (Note 30(b)(i)) SBERE (M5300)0) - 6,271
Currency realignment o 40 387
At the end of the year RER (2,067) (1,398)
Impairment of other receivables H b fE W AR TR E
Recondiliation of loss allowance for other receivables: E e BR R 2 BB BB AR
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEr
At beginning of the year NG (10,804) (14,237)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of Hi R 2 CRERE),
impairment loss on other receivables BB EERE D (7,050) 2,409
Currency realignment BT 317 1,024
At the end of the year RER (17,537) (10,804)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

21. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 21. EREZRN REREMER

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
Trade receivables that are not impaired

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instrument” to provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected
credit losses also incorporate forward looking information.

SRR~ Rl & RIENAREGE)
S 58 3 2 B G 53 R

AEERBEEMBREENFIHR S/
TRRTZEEE - ERAKATBHEER
BRARKE SRR AREEBEN
REE - RAETEMEERE  BEKES
ERRERBRABEERRSH MAHRH
DR - BREEEBRTE[AEEER -

Less than  Over 60 days
60 days and less than
Current past due 1 year Over 1 year Total
BH  AHEiRe0A
88 60A M BIR-F —FHE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2023 RZZB==F
+=A=+-8
Weighted average expected loss rate /15 TE HIE B X 0% 0% 0% 53%
Receivable amount fEU S5 24,454 2,464 3 3,896 30,817
Loss allowance EERE - - - (2,067) (2,067)
At 31 December 2022 R-B-Z&
tZRA=+-H
Weighted average expected loss rate  fI#EF15TE BB 1B X 0% 0% 0% 45%
Receivable amount el &5 10,633 416 - 3,125 14,174
Loss allowance BERE - - - (1,398) (1,398)

Trade receivables that were not past due relate to a wide range of
customers who has no recent history of default. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances.

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record with
the Group. Based on past experience, the management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered fully recoverable.

WA 2 FEYE 5 R 2 2 3T HA I
HREBRZEFAR - AREYENZE
R A EMERS -

ERREEREZEBEEZRERES 2 HE
AEBRERFABCHZIBILEFA
B o RIBBELR - BEERE ARG
BEEZXITEEAEE  ZEHBNRER
A RERE - B AT B AR EEE R
B#E -

ZE=FFERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

22. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 22, RITRBESEER
At the end of year, bank and cash balances of the Group denominated RER - TEBUARBFEZERITRIR
in RMB amounted equivalent to approximately HK$2,457,000 (2022: SEBEENA2,457,0008 (==
HK$5,460,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to £ 1 5,460,000 70 ) © #8 AR K BN
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations. MBS P EISMNEE IR EHIFRR -
23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. ENESERAREMESERR
2023 2022
—E-=HE —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FAETT FET
Trade payables T E SRR 77,795 40,302
Amounts payable on acquisition of property, WM - BB MR E
plant and equipment FETFRIB 112,554 126,736
Amount due to a subsidiary disposed E—RENERBHAFH
(Note 30(b)(i)) SKIB(HTEL300)H) - 2,853
Accruals and other payables FETE A N EMEMIRK 114,905 108,577
305,254 278,468
An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the reporting UTARRERRIZEZAHEY BN
period, based on invoice dates, is as follows: B SRFRER DT
2023 2022
—ZEC=HF —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
0 to 60 days 0£60H 29,182 12,806
61 to 90 days 61290H 8,056 314
Over 90 days 90H M F 40,557 27,182
77,795 40,302
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

24. EHNEE

Disclosures of revenue-related items: WAFBRETE B #255 -
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
R=ZZBZ=F WNIZT-—F RIZT__F
+=ZA=+—8 +ZA=1+—H —A—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET FET
Total contract liabilities SRBERSE 3,541 5,342 1,002,240
Transaction prices allocated to RERDIEEERIEKEL
performance obligations unsatisfied BEEWEHRUTER
at end of year and expected to be WRAER G IR PE
recognised as revenue in:
- 2023 ——E-=F - 6,636
- 2024 ——E-pUF 3,608 -
3,608 6,636
2023 2022
—E-=F TET 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FEIT
Year ended 31 December HEt-_A=t+—HILHFE
Revenue recognised in the year that was included REFEFASNBEZER
in contract liabilities at beginning of year AW 5,022 3,254
Significant changes in contract liabilities during FRELHABZEKRES
the year:
Increase due to operations in the year IR SRl 5 T 3 3,377 1,773
Decrease due to disposal of LS B A F A (B E300)0))
subsidiaries (Note 30(b)(i) - (905,506)
Currency realignment B (137) (89,824)
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue ERANEERZ RS (5,041) (3,341)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
products or services to a customer for which the Group has received

consideration from the customer.

“EC=FFEHRE

ARHEBEEASRERKREPREMAS
BEMIRETEFZEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HE T - =F+_-_A=+—HItFE

25. BORROWINGS 25 &8
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Other borrowing HifEE 48,113 52,785
Analysed as: DHTA
Secured B - -
Unsecured A 48,113 52,785
48,113 52,785
At 31 December 2023, other borrowing of HK$48,113,000 (2022: RZZBE_=F+-_A=+—80 EiEE
HK$52,785,000) was denominated is HKS$, unsecured and repayable 48,113,000/ 7T ( =& =~ — 4 : 52,785,000
within 1 year. The effective interest rates per annum at the end of the BIL) BAEITLETE - MERREMERN
years were as follows: B NEFERNEREMNENT
2023 2022
—E=HF —E-_F
Borrowings: BE
Fixed-rate A 8.00% 8.00%
The borrowings are repayable as follows: EEAERUTRHEERES
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
On demand or within one year IRERK—FR 48,113 52,785
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26. AMOUNT DUE TO THE CONTROLLING 26. FE{TIERERRIER
SHAREHOLDER
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and had no fixed EREE A IR - 8 N2 [ T 38 VAR o
term of repayment.
27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 27. EERIBEE
The following are the detailed deferred tax liabilities recognised by the U T AREERRIELCHBREFE -
Group.
Revaluation Properties
of property, for sale  Revaluation
plant and under of investment
equipment development properties Total
EfEYE- BRT B
BERSRE HENE REME w@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FHET FET
At 1 January 2022 WZE-_—F—H—H 1,863 34,664 10,050 46,577
Credit to other comprehensive income AR EEEE 8,041 - - 8,041
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 30(b)() HEMBERR(H300)) (89) (31,261) (9,015) (40,364)
Currency realignment B (160) (3,409) (1,035) (4,598)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 ,2:;&—} B=+—H
R_E_=F—H—H 9,656 - - 9,656
Credit to other comprehensive income FAEMEEYE (528) - - (528)
Currency realignment BEREE (258) - - (258)
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+-A=1+—H 8,870 - - 8,870
At the end of the reporting period, subject to the agreements with RIEHER  BEHRIGHKERE  ~EE
the tax authority, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately REBFMK LB AR 2 REAH
HK$254,641,000 (2022: HK$235,487,000) for subsidiaries incorporated TH B 18 4 5 254,641,0008 (= E = =
in Hong Kong available for offset against future profits of approximately F : 285,487,000/ T) + A FYES SR K
HK$254,641,000 (2022: HK$235,487,000) and such tax losses may i Kl #49254,641,00008 5 (—ZE = =
be carried forward indefinitely. Subject to the agreements with the 235,487,000 70 ) ' 2SR IEBHIE &
PRC tax authority, the Group has unused tax losses of approximately [RER4EE - A EREEERS - A&
HK$254,957,000 (2022: HK$208,286,000) for subsidiaries incorporated ERPEFMA 2B RR 2 RE AR
in PRC available for offset against future profits of approximately T8 E 18 4 /254,957,000 Tt (— & = —
HK$254,957,000 (2022: HK$208,286,000) and such tax losses may £ : 208,286,000/% 7T ) + A] A ¥ 85K 2R
be carried forward within 5 years. No deferred tax asset has been i Kl #49254,957,0008 5 (—Z & — =
recognised for these tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit 208,286,000/8 7T ) * ZEHMEEEBA N R

streams of those subsidiaries.

FREE - AR KEFAAZERBRAZ
A&ENRIR - BREZEHRERE
RIELENIBEE

TR -FFEHRE REERARAT
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. [
Number of
Notes shares HK$'000
Bt Vit 4= FET
Authorised: JERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BI0.10B T2 LB
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and R-ZE-—4%—H—H -
1 January 2023 :7::¢+ A=+—8xk
—E-=F—H—H 2,000,000,000 200,000
Increase in authorised share capital SETE M ARLE 0 1 3,000,000,000 300,000
At 31 December 2023 R-ZTE-_=F+-"A=+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
At 1 January 2022 R-—ZE—-—F—H—H 1,236,493,700 123,650
Issue of shares upon share placement D ER E 1B 31 TR (D 2 246,993,000 24,699
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 E/\_7 __¢-|— A=+—8"
and 31 December 2023 T =F—H—HK
R =F+ZHA=+—H 1,483,486,700 148,349
Notes BiaE

1. On 18 September 2023, the Company passed an ordinary resolution to
approve the authorised share capital of the Company be increased from
HK$200,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each to
HK$500,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 shares by the creation of an
additional 3,000,000,000 unissued ordinary shares in the share capital of
the Company.

2. On 6 November 2022, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with a placing agent in respect of the placement of up to 247,296,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each to independent investors at a price
of HK$0.043 per share. On 25 November 2022, 246,993,000 shares
were issued and allotted, after netting off the share issue expenses of
approximately HK$193,000, the premium on the issue of shares amounted
to approximately HK$14,272,000 was debited to the Company’s share
premium account.
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1. RZZZ=FAA+/N\B  ARAEB—
IE%LJ% R HLEBRBR AR RAE
Fh 58 9] 1 3% 3,000,000,000 A% K 3% 17 X 38
f& #8578 A BE TE BR AN B3 200,000,0007%
7 (% A2,000,000,000 0% & B FE{E0.1078
7T 2 A&7 ) 3 Hn % 500,000,000 7T (9 A
5,000,000,00088% 7)) °

2. RIZE-—F+—AXB ARFHEEE
RIBET A BIRE0.04378 T BISEC
& &% % 247,296,000 % & §£0.107%8 T K I
BRTBIREENESH HE R
—THF+—A-+EHH - 246,993,000
A% {7 JE B B8 R 81T - ASHNBR AR 1D B 1T FE
X #9193,0008 7018 « BT 2 mEL
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

29.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the
level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost. The
Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the return to the
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it,
in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue
new shares, buyback shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or
sell assets to reduce debts.

28. A (%)

BEXEE

AEEEEEANTIZABRIAREAE
BRELENEE N 2B BRERR
KPS EE R MRS TE (B R A AR
BE - MR SR RO A H AN 5
HEEXE - AREEREAE - URE
AEBAFERLZE 28N - AREEEL
EENMEAFE  BRRFMEAEHLS
Bi% -

AEEREEERBECEEEAREY
EHAR - BERKABRERRRE A%
BRI BRI AR - BITHA - MK
o~ FIBER  BRRAEBILEEE
VOB &R

RESERVES 20, f@#fE
(a) The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein are (a) AEBzHESENMESHFIBENG
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other EEEEMEERER MG EER
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in HEIRZY o
equity.
(b) Reserves of the Company (b) EARZFEE
Capital
Share  redemption  Contributed Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total
ROGE RARERE EfEH e} @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—F—f—H 838,412 624 29,509 (249,749 618,796
Loss for the year AEEER - - - (296,756) (296,756)
Issue of shares upon share RipELERETRS
placement (14,272) - - - (14,272)
At 31 December 2022 and RZEZ_F+-A=+—HR
1 January 2023 —ZE-=F-F-H 824,140 624 29,509 (546,505) 307,768
Loss for the year AEEER - - - (52,332) (52,332)
At 31 December 2023 WoFz=Et+=f=1-H 824,140 624 29509  (598837) 255436
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29. RESERVES (Continued) 29. f#fE (&)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group (c) FAEEREBEZMERAZ

() Share premium 0 REBE
Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of I s (B 18 BiZ BB B R EE
shares at a price in excess of their par value per share and is ZERBETROMEE 2
not distributable but may be applied in paying up unissued B BETEHIE - METAEE
shares of the Company to be issued to the shareholders of ARz AR EEEETT
the Company as fully paid bonus shares or in providing for RABRE 7 NRE)REITR
the premiums payable on repurchase of shares. HBEARZTERRD B2

(g o

(i) Capital redemption reserve (i) RAEEIFE
Capital redemption reserve arose from the reduction of the MR8 [l R T R AR 2 &) 5 4
nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company OIS < B 3T AN EE R
upon the cancellation of the repurchased shares. PESE -

(i) Foreign currency translation reserve (i) SMNEEE S E
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign INESTE KRB R ERTE BiRE
exchange differences arising from the translation of the WINETE I FEER B E & 2 HME
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is ER o BEDBRBEEUFER
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies set out B M4 SEBERRE -

in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

(iv)  Asset revaluation reserve (v) EBEEEERFE
Assets revaluation reserve has been set up and are dealt ARBERVYEESHFEE -
with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for WARIRAR & BAT5ER B M iE4 5t
property, plant and equipment in Note 4 to the consolidated ¥ BEREZBEMN G
financial statements. KR o
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30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising

30. REREMBRME

(a) BEEBELZEEEE

TREJNFARNEERERDELEZ

from financing activities during the year: BEE
Amount due to Total liabilities
the controlling Lease from financing
Borrowings shareholder liabilities activities
EAER MEZTEZ
1= BRERERRK HEEE EELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 W_E-_—F—H—H 207,520 4 22,498 230,059
Changes in cash flows Remes (37,809 1,008 (3,664) (40,465)
Changes in cash flows for BRIEEEEE 2
discontinued operation Renes (86,553) - - (86,553)
Non-cash changes FIREE
- Interest expenses —FI B8R 10,814 - 1,177 11,991
- Disposals of subsidiaries —HEWBAR
(Note 30(b)(}) (Hia30b)) (33,093) - (5,982) (39,075)
— Currency realignment - AR (8,094) (504) (4,536) (13,134)
At 31 December 2022 and i —
1 January 2023 +-A=+—-8kK
—E-=F—H—H 52,785 545 9,493 62,823
Changes in cash flows Rene# (8,838) ©) (5,217) (14,061)
Non-cash changes R EH
— Interest expenses —FERA% 4,166 - 611 4,777
- Currency realignment —BHEE - - 305 305
At 31 December 2023 RZEB-=F
+=-A=+-H 48,113 539 5,192 53,844
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

Disposal of subsidiaries

M

On 10 October 2022, the Group disposed 64.6% indirectly
owned subsidiary Nanjing Rongzhou Cultural Industry
Investment Company Limited* (RN XL EZKEBR
A \]) at cash consideration of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$23,200,000) to an independent
third party. As at 31 December 2022, the amount due
from the disposal group were amounting to approximately

30. IRERERBRME(E)

(b)

HK$230,163,000 (Note 21).

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

HEMELQE

U

RZE-_—F+A+H  ~EH
LAIR € B A R¥20,000,0007T
(FE&E 7 4923,200,0007% 7T ) [A]
B E =N EREES64.6%
KB R AR R AM b EZE
KEERAF - RZE=—
+-A=+—8 RhtEs
FIE A #9 230,163,000 78 7T
(Htst21) -

REERMZEEFEDNT

HK$000

FET

Right-of-use assets EREEE 5,443
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE K& 785
Investment properties WEMZE 52,177
Goodwill B 107,372

Amount due from non-controlling JrE LT — FEIBIT /BB N B SR AR A SR BR X

shareholder of a subsidiary 136,544
Inventory rE 284
Properties for sale under development BRPEEYE 940,177
Trade receivables FEWE B IR K 13,482
Less: Impairment loss B OREEE (6,271)
Other receivables H U R 5k 238,755
Restricted bank balances IR HIIRI TS 36,311
Bank and cash balances RIT RIS E 4,647
Trade payables FERTE SR (24,614)
Other payables HADFERBRK (45,495)
Contract liabilities GRBE (905,506)
Amount due to the remaining group JEAS TR e S (B Fh 18 (236,686)
Tax payable FERTFEIR (103,979)
Borrowings BE (33,093)
Lease liabilities HEBE (5,982)
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEAE (40,364)
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE 133,987
Release of foreign currency translation reserve  §NE 3 #a f (# [@ (21,645)
Non-controlling interests eI R (1,177)
111,165

Direct transaction costs incurred FRIEENEER SN 787
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR ZEE (88,714)
Consideration KRB 23,238
Consideration received BUERZ (B 23,238
Consideration receivable (Note 21) FEWRIEB (HiE21) (11,317)
Bank and cash balances disposed of BHERITRIBEE4H (4,647)
Direct transaction costs incurred FIEEMNEER SN (787)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEEAZRSRAFHAE 6,487
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued) (b)

(i)

On 11 October 2022, the Group disposed 35.53% indirectly
owned subsidiary Tesson K2 New Energy (Nanjing) Limited*
(REglgFER (BR) BRAR]) at cash consideration of
RMB1,200,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,390,000)
to an independent third party.

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

30. REREMEBRME(F)

HEME QR ()

iy RZZTEZ=F+A+—H £&%
B AR & R E AR ¥1,200,000
7t (#8 & 7 #91,390,000 7% 7t )
MEBYE=ZALEMRERSE
35.53% M B AR KE B
BER(ER)ERRAR -

ROERMZEEFENT ¢

HK$’000

T

Property, plant and equipment WIZE - BB LR 2,061
Amount due from the remaining group FETR sr 5 B Z008 5,476
Inventory Ty 1510
Trade receivables FEWE SR 115
Other receivables H fth FEUER SR 23
Bank and cash balances RITRIREEH -
Trade payables FERTE S8R (564)
Other payables HADFERBRK (6,492)
Net assets disposed of DHEEEFE 2,129
Release of foreign currency translation reserve 4N 5, # {7 {55 2 0] 141
Non-controlling interests IR 553
2,823
Waiver of amount due from the remaining Group — HZE FE UL 64 £ B 1B (1,454)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBA R 25
Consideration RE 1,394
Consideration received BEUER 2 R EB 1,394
Bank and cash balances disposed of BHERITRIBEEH -
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEEEZHRERAFE 1,394
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31. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 31. ZQ BB REE
COMPANY
2023 2022
—E-=HE —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REBARIZIRE - -
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSBH B A Al Z BRX 518,998 561,384
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments — EfthEUBRTL -« 5] & RFE I8 357 2,804
Amount due from the Controlling Shareholder i U372 A% A% B8 BR 7k 1,681 -
Bank and cash balances IRITMIR S M5 67 662
521,103 564,850
Current liabilities RBaE
Accruals and other payables FERT B R R E A FERTBR SR 51,211 40,011
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASHIT B A J1BR 3K 17,994 11,448
Amount due to the Controlling Shareholder FERHE AR R BR TR - 4,489
Other borrowings HibfgE 48,113 52,785
117,318 108,733
Net current assets REEEFE 403,785 456,117
NET ASSETS EEFE 403,785 456,117
Capital and reserves BARRHE
Share capital R& 7 148,349 148,349
Reserves (=] 255,436 307,768
TOTAL EQUITY AR 403,785 456,117
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32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

33.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company did not
have any significant contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).

LITIGATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, certain subsidiaries of the Company were
involved in litigation or claims of material importance arising in the
ordinary course of business as follows:

On 10 January 2022, a contractor of Tesson New Energy Company
Limited” (RE#8E/RER A7) (the “Tesson New Energy’), a
subsidiary of the Company, filed a claim with the People’s Court in
Lishui district, Nanjing city, against Tesson New Energy for the payment
of construction cost RMB44,413,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$50,262,000) and overdue interests. A judgement was issued on 29
December 2023 ordering Tesson New Energy, among other things, to
pay a judgement sum of approximately RMB12,164,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$13,396,000). The contractor filed an appeal on 10
January 2024. As at the date of approving these consolidated financial
statements, the People’s Court has yet to schedule a hearing.

As at 31 December 2023, certain subsidiaries of the Group are
defendants on the lawsuits in addition to the above mentioned,
accordingly bank balances of these subsidiaries in total of approximately
RMB642,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$708,000) was frozen
by the court. The Group was also involved in a dispute on certain
investments in the subsidiaries with the non-controlling shareholders
of these subsidiaries. The Group’s management believed that the
claim was without merit and the possibility of a significant loss arising
from the dispute was remote and therefore no provision of the claims
was considered necessary. Save as disclosed above, during the year
ended 31 December 2023, no member of the Group is subject to any
litigation, arbitration or claim of material importance and no litigation or
claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or
threatened against any member of the Group.

32. AAREE
RIFEHR - AREBRAQFWELHE
AKARBE(ZE-_—_F  #) -

33. {FEA

iZFE%%%ﬂE¢F$
E’Jiké E\XEE/%QDT :

75A_$::¢—E+E NN e i L 5

NRAKEFERERAR ([ XEHEER])
) — 4 7# B B 0] /AR TR K B A RABT IR
AL - BRKEFEER I EER AR A
R 44,413,000 7T (48 & M 47 50,262,000
B KRB - HIAEENR T =F
+Z—A-+thB%bK S KEHER(E
FEIE) AR RO AREA12,164,000
TL(HRE R #113,396,000/87C) ° A BER
—E-NFE— A+ HERLEF - R HEZ

ERAUBEREZA - ARZREMALHE

H’E"f ‘Yﬁ%o

RZBEZ=F+ZH=1+—H ~&B8H
THIBA R I AR ElFRAINEMERRZ
WE - RSB RARIMIRITEAKRE T
# A R #642,0007T (18 & 7 4708,000%
L) ER R o AEBRE THEAR
AIMIEE EZ SN B A 5 K IEIE AR AR R 3
Filgy c REBERERE  %Z=2HLE
B I&M%iﬁék%%MT%ﬁE
N AR RAETIHERE o B E XA
E%%'@K E_=F+=-A=+—H
IFFE  AEBK B RRIYELMEKRF
A REERERE ARESZMA AKE
B B A R UM AR AR (M R BRR S BB B Y
FARFANER o
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34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 34. BEAXREIE
The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the year are as follows: RER  NEB 2 ENEERNT -
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Contracted but not provided for EEEREES T
— Property, plant and equipment —M%E - BB REE 34,265 40,759
— Investment in an associate —R—EEE AR E 19,823 27,161
54,088 67,920
At 31 December 2023, the acquisition of investment in an associate NZBE-=F+-_A=+—08 ' KHER—
was secured by the pledge of property, plant and equipment held by R L AR EUARNEEEE 2 EEE
the Group with carrying value of approximately HK$5,812,000 (2022: #95,812,000/8( —F = —4 : 12,047,000
HK$12,047,000), which the acquisition is not yet completed. BIL) 2% - BEMEREEERE - ZUWEE
35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. BEALTRS

The Group had no transactions with its related parties during the year
and last year.

Key management personnel remuneration

The emoluments of the Company’s Directors, who are also identified as
members of key management of the Group, are set out in Note 15.
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36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF

THE COMPANY

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the financial position of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the

years are as follows:

36. XAAFREEMBELR2EHR

TREJNESRREYAFERXEELE
AP ERBRARERERAEEZRD 2
ARAMBAT - EERR - WEFIEA

MBARZFFE

RER -

EEEFBENTIE -

ARREEMBRARIZERIAT

Place of Percentage of
incorporation/  Issued/paid-up the Company’s indirect
Name registration capital ownership interest Principal activities
KATIEE
£B RI/#Mins  CRT/HEZRA BERREMNL TEEK
Notes 2023 2022
izt “E-ZF ZTCCF
Tesson New Energy (Shen Zhen) Limited* 1 The PRC RMB850,000,000 95.00% 95.00%  Trading of lithium ion
battery products
REMERORI)BRAR] i AR #850,000,0007 EEERTE0ER
Tesson New Energy Company Limited* 2 The PRC RMB500,000,000 65.36% 65.36%  Manufacturing of lithium
ion battery products
KEHERBRAF H AR #500,000,0007T CEERTENED
Tessan New Energy (Weinan) Limited™ 2 The PRC RMB450,000,000 100% 86.4%  Manufacturing of lithium
ion battery products
AR OBR)BRAR i AR 450,000,007 EEBETENER
Notes BiaE
1. The company is a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC. 1. BARABNRPEBIBFIMNEERE -
2. These companies are limited liability company established in the PRC. 2. ERTARPEKINERAT °
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36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

36. XA EEMBELR 2ER(E)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group as at 31 December
2023. The summarised financial information represents amounts before
inter-company eliminations.

TRIIWRAZEZ=F+_A=+—0%
EHAEEMEBEANZ IR ([ 3
PERER ) CHBARZER o A%
BRIEEBANA R BT 2 &5

Tesson New Energy

Name Company Limited”
=51 REFERERATN
2023 2022
—E=-= B —
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
Principal place of business and T BB BB ML R PRC
country of incorporation m
% of ownership interests and RS 2 A EEE R
voting rights held by NCI WEEZ BN (%) 34.64% 34.64%
At 31 December: R+=B=+—8:
Non-current assets ERHEE 114,653 128,295
Current assets MENVEE 44,463 45,206
Current liabilities mENEE (671,819) (667,989
Non-current liabilities JEmBAE - (1,792)
Net liabilities BEFE (512,703) (496,280)
Accumulated NCI REPFHIE R E R (177,600) (171,911)
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=1t—HLEE:
Revenue & - -
Loss for the year REFEEGE (6,023) (248,881)
Total comprehensive loss T HEEIBAAEE (16,422) (179,319
Loss allocated to NCI DB EIEE R 2 18 (2,086) (86,212)
Dividends distributed to NCI B9 T IR 2 IS - -
Net cash used in operating activities KRBT 2 IR & F 5 (692) (583)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEE(FA),/FiszReF8E
investing activities (1,267) 8,547
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBFTA 2R e R - (186,209)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRReSEY M F3E (1,959) (178,245)
A included its subsidiaries A BREENEB AR
37. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 37. HEFESHMBIERE
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024.
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Tesson Holdings Limited

Room 401A, Empire Centre, 68 Mody Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

BB NRERIE EHE68%: 5 HH L401AE
Tel B35 (852) 3520 3000

Fax @& (852) 3520 3181 | /‘\3

Website #81E  www.tessonholdings.com
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